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CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We are going to do some Bill Draft Request (BDR) introductions first.  

 

WAYNE THORLEY (Senate Fiscal Analyst): 

We have two BDRs that require committee introduction this morning. The first is 

BDR S-1200. This makes an appropriation to the Nevada System of Higher 

Education (NSHE) to expand undergraduate and graduate nursing programs at 
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institutions within the system. This is a one-shot appropriation bill that was 

included in the Governor's recommended budget. 

 

BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1200: Makes an appropriation to the Nevada System 

of Higher Education for a grant program to expand undergraduate and 

graduate nursing programs at institutions within the System. (Later 

introduced as Senate Bill 498.) 

 

The second is BDR 26-1237. This is a BDR the money committees requested in 

closing the State Department of Conservation and Natural Resources (DCNR), 

Division of Forestry budgets. It makes various changes related to the collection 

of fees for the Division of Forestry and also makes changes related to the 

accounting of revenue and expenditures for out-of-state forest fire suppression. 

 

BILL DRAFT REQUEST 26-1237: Revises provisions relating to state financial 

administration. (Later introduced as Senate Bill 499.) 

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO INTRODUCE BDR S-1200 AND 

BDR 26-1237. 

 

SENATOR STONE SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

I will open the hearing on Senate Bill (S.B.) 147. It creates the Southern Nevada 

Regional Planning for Economic Resiliency Pilot Program. 

 

SENATE BILL 147 (1st Reprint): Creates the Southern Nevada Regional Planning 

for Economic Resiliency Pilot Program. (BDR S-683) 

 

SENATOR MARILYN DONDERO LOOP (Senatorial District No. 8): 

Senate Bill 147 creates the Southern Nevada Regional Planning for Economic 

Resiliency Pilot Program. Southern Nevada's rapid population growth is 

increasing the demands on its infrastructure and transit systems. The region's 

long-term economic resiliency depends on coordinated planning efforts that 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12106/Overview/
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address current challenges while preparing for future opportunities. 

Senate Bill 147 attempts to address those issues. 

 

The bill defines the pertinent terms relating to Southern Nevada Regional 

Planning for Economic Resiliency. Section 7 requires the Regional Transportation 

Commission of Southern Nevada (RTC) to establish the Advisory Committee on 

Regional Planning for Economic Resiliency. Section 8 creates the program and 

sets forth its responsibilities. Section 9 requires the program to focus on certain 

population centers in Southern Nevada. Section 10 requires the commission to 

prepare a regional infrastructure plan and a written report describing its 

activities, findings and recommendations. Section 11 appropriates $650,000 to 

establish and implement the plan. 

 

As introduced, S.B. 147 received one fiscal note from the RTC. The RTC 

estimated the fiscal impact of S.B. 147 to be $250,000 for the fiscal year  

(FY) 2025-2026 and $400,000 for FY 2026-2027.  

 

DAVID F. DAMORE (Executive Director, The Lincy Institute, Brookings Mountain 

West): 

I am the Executive Director of two donor-supported public policy centers at the 

University of Nevada, Las Vegas (UNLV). I want to provide a little background 

about the bill before I hand it over to the RTC to talk about the mechanics.  

 

Last spring, the Governor's Office of Economic Development (GOED) released 

the Southern Nevada Regional Industrial Center study. This is a report 

commissioned by GOED from Brookings Mountain West, the UNLV Center for 

Business and Economic Research and the Transportation Research Center at 

UNLV. The goal of the report was to identify opportunities for scaled economic 

industrial development in Clark County and look at a comparison of growth and 

productivity to neighboring metros. We were also asked to take a look at 

regional governance and planning capacity needed to identify, prioritize and 

develop infrastructure to support economic and industrial development.  

 

What we found was the regions we compete against for business have 

established structures to organize regionally and develop regional policy 

responses that are funded with the mix of federal, state and local resources. In 

the report, we look in detail at Phoenix, Denver and Salt Lake City. One of the 

report's recommendations was to more effectively compete for economic 
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opportunities, Southern Nevada needs to strengthen its regional development 

capacity here.  

 

That is what S.B. 147 does by establishing Southern Nevada Regional Planning 

for Economic Resiliency Pilot Program. The goals of the program are really 

twofold. They are outlined in sections 8 and 9 of the bill. They essentially 

evaluate and integrate planning for infrastructure and transit in areas targeted 

for economic development and redevelopment. You could think about the plans 

of Southern Nevada Strong and the Las Vegas Global Economic Alliance's work 

as well. It also calls for community development here in helping to prioritize 

these programs and then identify federal and state funding sources to support 

infrastructure development.  

 

The pilot program will be housed within the Metropolitan Planning Organization 

(MPO) within the RTC of Southern Nevada. These are created in funding with 

the local match by the U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway 

Administration. What we find in other metros is that MPOs are integrated into 

regional governing structures such as the councils of governments to leverage 

those entities’ planning expertise and capacity. We are trying to move in that 

direction here. The RTC is, of course, well positioned to conduct the pilot 

program, has an extensive planning capacity, has conducted similar types of 

work in the past and oversees the Southern Nevada Strong regional plan that is 

currently being updated.  

 

DEBORAH REARDON (Regional Planning Manager, Regional Transportation 

Commission of Southern Nevada): 

In summary, the pilot would lead to a prioritized list of the most important 

projects for economic growth and redevelopment in the region and a review of 

what infrastructure is needed to support development at these sites, things like 

utilities, roadways and transit. It is important to note the list would be 

developed based on input received from local governments, stakeholders and 

community members.  

 

The project list would be grouped into packages that can be used for future 

grants and to increase the level of federal investment in the region. Since this 

level of coordinated regional economic development and infrastructure planning 

is a new undertaking, we would need experts and partners to make it happen. 

We would hire a project manager, either staff or consultants to build our 

capacity and a contractor to provide technical expertise. We know that the pilot 
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would only be as good as the engagement and input received from stakeholders. 

Therefore, the plan would be developed through community engagement 

including the formation of an advisory committee.  

 

The advisory committee would include representatives with experience in 

regional planning, economic development or redevelopment, workforce 

development, infrastructure and transit. The bill also specifies that the 

committee would include representatives from the Las Vegas Global Economic 

Alliance, the Vegas Chamber, Clark County and the cities of Las Vegas, 

Henderson, North Las Vegas, Boulder City and Mesquite. The committee would 

really guide the development of this project list and its recommendations, which 

would be summarized in a report. The report would then be submitted to the 

RTC board, which includes Clark County and our five cities, for review and 

approval. Following RTC board approval, the report would then be submitted to 

the State as outlined in the bill.  

 

The RTC is willing and able to fill this gap in regional planning and coordination. 

As the MPO for Southern Nevada, the RTC regularly serves as a convenor as 

well as a facilitator. We administer federal planning funds and grants, contracts 

for planning studies and outreach, and the Southern Nevada Strong Regional 

Plan. However, the RTC relies on federal transportation planning funds, which 

are restricted to transportation planning activities only. A state funding source 

would enable the RTC to conduct comprehensive infrastructure planning to 

support economic development and redevelopment projects that strengthen and 

diversify our region's economy. Funds would be utilized for an additional planner 

over a two-year period and consultant services. Given the State's current 

budget deficit, we had a chance to revisit this budget and compared it against 

current costs. Based on this review, we believe the proposed budget is 

conservative.  

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

I think this is really smart policy, and it is always good to kind of have 

something to help us be forward thinking when we talk about infrastructure and 

about some of the things outlined within this bill. I just wanted to first say thank 

you because I really like this bill and I think it is a great idea.  

 

I want to talk just a minute about the fiscal note. I see one fiscal note from the 

RTC of Southern Nevada. As I understand it, this is not money that would be 

from the General Fund. This would be something that the RTC would have as an 
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expense. Is it your intent to have them cover that, or is this a request for us to 

fund with General Fund dollars?  

 

SENATOR DONDERO LOOP: 

I will ask either Dr. Damore or Ms. Reardon to answer that question from their 

perspective. 

 

MR. DAMORE: 

Section 11 does call for an appropriation from the General Fund to cover those 

costs. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

I just wanted to confirm that because we had the fiscal note, but also the 

appropriation in the bill. I just wanted to make sure we are all on the same page 

there. 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 147.  

 

TREVOR PARRISH (Manager, Government Affairs, Vegas Chamber): 

The Chamber is in support of this measure from the fiscal perspective. 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

I will close the hearing on S.B. 147, and I will open the hearing on S.B. 300.  

 

SENATE BILL 300 (1st Reprint): Makes revisions relating to Medicaid. (BDR 38-

110) 

 

SENATOR MARILYN DONDERO LOOP (Senatorial District No. 8): 

I am honored to present S.B. 300, which makes revisions relating to Medicaid. 

Currently, the Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) provides that 

Medicaid will provide coverage of services offered by a psychiatrist, 

psychologist, advanced practice registered nurse (APRN), marriage and family 

therapist or a licensed clinical social worker at a federally qualified health center 

(FQHC).  

 

In 2023 this federal statute was expanded to authorize federal financial 

participation for Medicaid coverage of services provided by mental health 

counselors, including alcohol and drug counselors and problem gambling 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12513/Overview/
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counselors who hold a master's degree or higher along with professional 

counselors who provide services at a FQHCs. 

 

This bill aims to codify the existing federal requirement that Medicaid covers 

services performed by a list of professionals as it was amended in 2023. It also 

requires the director of DHHS to apply for any waiver of federal law that is 

necessary to carry out the provisions of this bill.  

 

The bill was amended in the first House to include clinical professional 

counselors, licensed alcohol and drug counselors or licensed clinical alcohol and 

drug counselors, and a master's level intern practicing under the direct 

supervision of a provider of health care listed previously who practices in the 

same profession as the master's level intern.  

 

As I mentioned before, this is already required on the federal level. This bill 

would simply codify these provisions into Nevada law. 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

I am thinking we might be able to use the provider tax fees to cover some  

of these costs. Can you confirm whether this $91,463 over the  

2025-2027 biennium would be able to be covered with that provider tax?  

 

ANN JENSEN (Chief Innovations Officer, Division of Health Care Financing and 

Policy, Nevada Department of Health and Human Services): 

We will bring this back to our fiscal team to confirm. I believe under statute for 

the provider assessment, this would align. However, there are some 

complexities with billing for the FQHCs, and I want to ensure that we are not in 

conflict there. We will take that back and get back to you.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 300. 

 

HELEN FOLEY (Chairman of the Board, FirstMed Health and Wellness): 

FirstMed is a FQHC in Southern Nevada. FirstMed provides all of the services 

for Childhaven, Inc., and for the vast majority of the 3,800 foster children in the 

system in Southern Nevada. We discovered that licensed professional 

counselors and alcohol and drug abuse counselors had not specifically been 

placed in the law.  
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It is important that all of these individuals who provide the services—you heard 

the laundry list before—are all a minimum of a master's level mental health 

professional. This will help us provide services to far more individuals. A lot of 

this money is paid by the federal government. I think $182,000 is the maximum 

amount that the State would incur over the biennium.  

 

FirstMed has the gold standard for FQHCs, meaning that it is in the top  

10 percent of all FQHCs in the country. We are very proud of the services that 

we provide. We have a clinic in North Las Vegas on Martin Luther King Drive. 

We have one on Shadow Lane; we have another at Eastern and Desert Inn 

taking care of many Hispanic individuals. And then of course, our clinic at 

Childhaven, which is open 24 hours a day and 7 days a week. We get our 

children into services that they need. Imagine if a child has been taken away 

from their family and is in custody, the vast majority of the help that they need 

is mental health. This will help us do our job much better.  

 

SABRINA SCHNUR (Nevada Primary Care Association): 

The Nevada Primary Care Association is the State's FQHCs. We are in support 

and ditto Ms. Foley’s [comments].  

 

ROBERT TOLEDO (Medical Director, Desert Treatment Clinic): 

I am board certified in obstetrics and gynecology as well as in addiction 

medicine. At Desert Treatment Clinic, we specialize in the treatment of opioid 

use disorder through a combination of medication assisted treatment and 

comprehensive behavioral health services. Our mission is to provide 

compassionate, evidence-based care that empowers individuals to reclaim their 

lives from the grips of addiction.  

 

At Desert Treatment Clinic, we have been part of the Clark County community 

for 15 years. It was established in response to the rising demand for effective 

opioid treatment of pregnant women. Our focus has been to serve our most 

vulnerable neighbors with dignity, respect and individualized care. Today, we 

provide care for over 350 clients each day. In addition to medication assisted 

treatment, we offer counseling, psychotherapy and work closely with medical 

professionals to address the full spectrum of our clients' needs.  

 

Our team is deeply committed to walking alongside every individual on their 

journey to recovery. An especially critical part of our work is with pregnant 

women who are battling opioid addiction. Each year, we support approximately 
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50 pregnant women through a combination of medical care, behavioral support 

and community resources. Supporting these women means creating healthier 

families and breaking the cycle of addiction that can affect generations.  

 

However, despite the importance of this work, we are facing a significant and 

longstanding funding barrier. The daily reimbursement rate for medication has 

not increased since 1980. For more than four decades, this rate has remained 

unchanged even as the cost and demands have risen dramatically. This 

underfunding threatens our ability to expand services to meet the growing needs 

of our community and jeopardizes the lives of women and children we serve. 

We are doing everything we can with these resources, but truly to meet this 

moment, we need the ability to grow; we need the ability to reach more people. 

We are asking for a reimbursement system that reflects the realities of modern 

health care. I urge you to support S.B. 300.  

 

ERIN DONOHUE (Regional Director, Acadia Healthcare, Las Vegas Comprehensive 

Treatment Center): 

I oversee three opioid treatment programs in Clark County, Nevada. Our clinics 

provide vital and lifesaving medication assisted treatment to over 800 patients 

per day who are struggling with opioid use disorder.  

 

In Nevada, opioid treatment programs have long operated at a financial loss due 

to inadequate reimbursement rates, despite our services playing a critical role in 

combating Nevada's opioid crisis. This is why we, along with other providers 

and the Nevada Opioid Treatment Association, are providing testimony in 

support of the proposed rate increase that will support these lifesaving 

programs.  

 

Opioid use disorder continues to be a public health crisis in the State that is 

getting worse. While states across the country saw overdose deaths due to 

opioids decline, Nevada actually saw a 23 percent increase in overdose deaths 

from 2022 to 2023. Nevada and South Dakota were the only states to see such 

an increase. Nevada's overdose crisis is being attributed to a surge in fentanyl 

and a lack of accessible treatment according to a report from the Clark County 

Regional Opioid Task Force. The most recent data from DHHS in 2022 shows 

over 500 fentanyl related overdose deaths in the State, which is a sharp 

increase from previous years. This alarming rise in fentanyl fatalities makes the 

need for expanded treatment options more urgent than ever.  
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With fentanyl now driving the majority of opioid related deaths in Nevada, 

increasing access to medication assisted treatment is crucial in preventing 

further loss of life. Providing medication assisted treatment requires a dedicated 

multidisciplinary team, including licensed nurses, physicians, certified counselors 

and administrative staff. With rising personnel costs, medication expenses, 

licensing fees and operational overhead, sustaining services under the current 

reimbursement rates is becoming increasingly difficult. The proposed rate 

increase is a critical step forward in providing treatment to more Nevadans 

helping to address the opioid crisis still ravaging our State. Because of this, I 

urge you to support S.B. 300. 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Do you have any closing remarks? During the testimony, I did get confirmation 

from Medicaid that the provider fee would be able to cover the cost contained in 

the fiscal note. 

 

SENATOR DONDERO LOOP: 

I need to be clear because there is a proposed amendment [later introduced as 

Amendment No. 760] that includes the increase of certain rates of 

reimbursement under Medicaid. Serena Kasama will talk for a minute about the 

amendment that is proposed, and the reason is because we found this fits 

within the Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS). This will help for the purposes of the 

funding mechanism.  

 

SERENA KASAMA: 

We appreciate Senator Dondero Loop and Helen Foley for allowing us to add 

this proposed amendment to this bill. [The amendment] involves the increase of 

certain Medicaid reimbursement rates. It would add an additional section to 

create a phase-in process for additional rate increases over a two-year process.  

 

Year one is to include an increase to $10 per transaction for the rate of 

reimbursement, which is provided on a fee-for-service basis pursuant to the 

state plan for medication administration provided by an opioid treatment 

program provider. Year two is to include an increase to $15.34 per transaction 

for the rate of reimbursement, which is provided on a fee-for-service basis 

pursuant to the State Plan for medication administration provided by an opioid 

treatment provider.  
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Then, this increase will include a stipulation that the increase from $10 to 

$15.34 per transaction is to happen only if sufficient funding is available for the 

increase. For the purpose of this section, the funding mechanism will come from 

budget account (B/A) 101-3177, which is the Hospital Provider Tax Fund 

account. Another section [states] the implementation date [will be]  

October 1, 2025. 

 

NEVADA HEALTH AUTHORITY 

 

NEVADA HEALTH AUTHORITY DIRECTOR'S OFFICE 

 

NHA-Medicaid-Improve Health Care Quality & Access — Budget Page 

DIRECTOR'S OFFICE-81 (Volume III) 

Budget Account 101-3177 

 

This reimbursement rate has not changed for several decades. Currently it is a 

little over $3 per transaction. This is something really critical to these providers, 

and we confirmed it was germane with the Legislative Council Bureau. We have 

worked with the DHHS Division of Health Care Financing and Policy (DHCFP), 

which added an adjustment that it would go from medication assisted treatment 

to medication administration. The division also confirmed at the current level of 

the provider tax, they are able to sustain the increase, using those funds. The 

division only had questions, based on some other federal aspects, if they will 

have enough to raise it to $15.34, but at the $10 increase, DHCFP has enough 

at its current hospital provider tax rate.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Has this amendment been filed, or is this conceptual? If you have a copy of 

whatever you are reading, please provide that to our staff. 

 

SENATOR DONDERO LOOP: 

We do have a copy of the amendment, and we have cleared this through 

[Administrator] Stacie Weeks' department.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Can you clarify what that new fiscal note would be based on this proposed 

amendment change to increase that provider fee? Because I imagine it is quite 

a bit.  
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MS. KASAMA: 

It is about $1.7 million.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Is that in each year of the biennium or over the total?  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

It is over the total.  

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

I want to make sure I am understanding this correctly: the proposed conceptual 

amendment is an increase for Medicaid reimbursement rates that we would pay 

for with provider tax.  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

That is correct.  

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

Are you aware of anywhere else we are paying for Medicaid reimbursement 

rates through provider taxes?  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

I will have to follow up with Administrator Weeks and her team. It was at the 

request of Administrator Weeks that we specify in our conceptual [amendment] 

that the funding mechanism will be B/A 101-3177, which is the hospital 

provider tax.  

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

Did you say it was for $0.7 [million] for the total over the biennium?  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

Yes, around that. I can get the exact number, but it is $1.7 million. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

Are you saying $1.7 or $4.7 [million]?  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

$1.7 [million].  
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SENATOR CANNIZZARO: 

I ask because I think this is familiar to another bill that seems like it might have 

been a little bit more than that. I just want to make sure we are getting an 

accurate number on that. If you can get that information to us, that would be 

helpful.  

 

MS. KASAMA: 

Absolutely. 

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

I think it would be helpful to see some of that additional language, especially for 

our staff as they are trying to figure out the fiscal information. I am sure they 

will reach out as they are preparing that amendment with Administrator Weeks.  

 

I will close the hearing on S.B. 300 and open the hearing on S.B. 400. 

 

SENATE BILL 400 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to education. 

(BDR 34-108) 

 

SENATOR MARILYN DONDERO LOOP (Senatorial District No. 8): 

Senate Bill 400 seeks to adopt similar provisions in state statute to the 

requirements in the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act as they relate to 

the continuity of services for special education students transferring schools.  

 

This bill also creates an endorsement to teach art or music. I am proposing an 

amendment (Exhibit C), which I will address further on in the presentation. I 

would like to start with just some overview information to address S.B. 400.  

 

When a child transfers to another school, it is always a stressful experience. 

Special education students rely on their individual instruction, accommodations 

and support services listed in their Individualized Education Program (IEP) to 

succeed in school. Disruptions in any of these services can negatively impact 

their academic progress and their social and emotional development. Therefore, 

keeping their support system intact is critical for smoother school transition and 

maintaining services for the child.  

 

I am proud to say that Nevada has come a long way in the arts and music 

education. We also know there is a need for more qualified teachers in the 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12717/Overview/
http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN1152C.pdf
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classroom in arts, music and all our demanding special areas including special 

education.  

 

In section 1, the nemesis of this bill is that if a child transfers from one school 

to another, within or outside of the State, the child must continue to receive 

those services outlined in their IEP from their previous school until another IEP is 

developed, adopted and implemented. It is critically important that these special 

education students continue to receive those services they need, and there is no 

gap in the delivery of those services.  

 

Section 2 requires the Commission on Professional Standards in Education 

within the Nevada Department of Education (NDE) to adopt regulations for an 

endorsement to teach art or music at an elementary, middle, junior high, or 

secondary school and prohibits the Commission from requiring such 

endorsements to teach related content.  

 

However, I am proposing an amendment today that deletes sections 1.3 and 

1.7 related to the provision of pay scale for education support staff who have 

attained a new degree. We will make that clear to our small schools of less than 

500 students and our small school districts of less than 200,000 students.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

I do have a copy of this amendment [Amendment No. 267], but I think what 

you are referencing is a conceptual amendment, Exhibit C, that we have on our 

desks. Is that correct?  

 

SENATOR DONDERO LOOP: 

That is correct.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Does that change the fiscal impact at all for the State? 

 

SENATOR DONDERO LOOP: 

No, it does not. Originally the bill included some other areas of expertise within 

the education field. We have eliminated those and only added that we would 

have designated the art and music teachers in those classes, continued to have 

students with IEPs and their services be continuous when they transfer within 

or from outside the State.  
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VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Okay, wonderful. We will now hear testimony on S.B. 400. 

 

MARY PIERCZYNSKI (Nevada Association of School Superintendents): 

We are in support of the bill.  

 

AMANDA BRAZEAU NOLTING (University of Nevada, Las Vegas):  

We are also in support of the bill. 

 

TOM CLARK (Nevada Association of School Boards): 

Me too.  

 

VICE CHAIR NGUYEN: 

Hearing no additional testimony, we will close the hearing on S.B. 400. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will go to S.B. 6. 

 

SENATE BILL 6: Makes an appropriation to the Desert Research Institute of the 

Nevada System of Higher Education to support the Nevada State Cloud 

Seeding Program. (BDR S-389) 

 

SENATOR MELANIE SCHEIBLE (Senatorial District No. 9): 

I am delighted to be joined by Tracy Bower from the Desert Research Institute 

(DRI) to talk to you about Nevada's Cloud Seeding Program.  

 

Senate Bill 6 seeks to fund cloud seeding, which is a longstanding scientific 

method for increasing rainfall and snowfall in the upper Sierra Nevada 

Mountains leading to larger snowpacks and to larger quantities of water here in 

the driest state in the nation.  

 

TRACY BOWER (Director, External Affairs, Desert Research Institute): 

The State funded DRI to conduct a cloud seeding experiment in the 1970s. The 

success of that experiment led to State funding for the Nevada State Cloud 

Seeding Program, which operated from the early 1980s through 2009. Funding 

was halted due to the funding shortfall in the Great Recession. When that 

funding halted, DRI worked with local water agencies to conduct cloud seeding 

where possible. But the patchwork nature of that funding makes it less efficient 

and more expensive than a statewide program. The projects are often not 
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funded by local sponsors until drought conditions become critical for water 

supplies, missing out on opportunities to generate additional snowfall before the 

situation becomes dire.  

 

The Legislature approved S.B. No. 99 of the 82nd Session to bring back funding 

for the Cloud Seeding Program. That has allowed DRI to operate the 

state-owned cloud seeding generators that were built by DRI. During the winter 

of 2023-2024 an estimated 56,282 acre feet of additional snow/water 

equivalent was produced from our ground-based network.  

 

The project was conducted in the Humboldt River Basin including the Ruby 

Mountains, Santa Rosa Mountains, the Truckee River Basin and the Spring 

Mountains. That 56,000 acre feet is enough water for more than  

140,000 Nevada homes at a cost of about $10.60 per acre foot of water. The 

continuity of funding that S.B. 6 will provide will allow DRI to continue to 

generate additional water resources for the State and to keep the state-owned 

equipment in good repair.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 6.  

 

ALEJANDRO RODRIGUEZ (Director, Government Relations, Nevada System of Higher 

Education): 

The Nevada System of Higher Education (NSHE) is in strong support of S.B. 6. 

This crucial program for our State is one of our board's operating priorities. We 

urge your support. 

 

SHELBY BIETZ (Manager, Outreach and Community Engagement, University of 

Nevada, Reno): 

We are also in support of this bill.  

 

KATHY FLANAGAN (Senior Public Affairs Analyst, Southern Nevada Water 

Authority): 

The Southern Nevada Water Authority is in strong support of S.B. 6.  

 

MR. PARRISH: 

The Vegas Chamber has historically supported this appropriation, and we are 

supportive this session as well. 
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JEFF FONTAINE (Executive Director, Humboldt River Basin Water Authority; 

Central Nevada Regional Water Authority): 

I am the executive Director of the Humboldt River Basin Water Authority and 

also the Central Nevada Regional Water Authority. Both of the regional water 

authorities are in support of S.B. 6.  

 

BUDD WATKINS (Chair, Private Well Owners Association, Nye County): 

We support S.B. 6. At Spring Mountain itself, in the last two years, we have 

had 6.9 billion gallons of snow water added at the cost of $10.60 an acre 

versus street drilling at $11,500 per acre. Please support this bill. 

 

GLORIA CHARLENE: 

I am in opposition of S.B. 6. We are not notified of all of the chemicals that are 

coming down on us because of what you guys call cloud seeding. There's a 

high exposure rate of lead, aluminum and more. I know I get sick from it and so 

do many others as well with all the chem trails in the sky. What you call cloud 

seeding, really is chemicals falling down on the earth. It is hurting our livestock, 

it is hurting our plants, and it is hurting us. Our health is not worth $10 or any 

amount of money. Our health is our wealth, and I am strongly opposed against 

S.B. 6.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will close the hearing on S.B. 6 and open the hearing on S.B. 88. 

 

SENATE BILL 88 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to offenders. 

(BDR 16-491) 

 

SENATOR MELANIE SCHEIBLE (Senatorial District No. 9): 

Senate Bill 88 allows people who have been released from the Nevada 

Department of Corrections (NDOC) to start their lives over, get a job, start 

working and not have to pay the prison back for the medical care they received 

while they were there.  

 

They are currently being assessed a debt when they have to be taken off 

campus to receive medical care in the community. The cost of that medical care 

is being added to that person's books, essentially in a negative way, so that 

when they are released from prison, traditionally, NDOC has been taking them 

to collections to follow up on that debt and try to receive it back. Not only has 

this been incredibly unsuccessful, NDOC has received pennies on the dollar back 
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for it. It has been probably more expensive to try to collect the debt than the 

debt is actually worth.  

 

When we heard this bill in the Senate Judiciary Committee, I do not think I 

could overstate how enthusiastically the bill passed out of the committee 

because it is just good policy. It is such a simple way that we can empower 

people who are leaving NDOC to start their lives over in a way that makes 

sense for everybody. It helps those who are being released, it helps relieve 

burdens on NDOC, and it is the right thing to do.  

 

NICHOLAS SHEPACK (Nevada State Director, Fines and Fees Justice Center): 

One thing I want to make clear is that the passage of this bill would not impact 

payments to providers in any way. The Nevada Department of Corrections pays 

in full for the medical care and then individuals reimburse the Inmate Welfare 

Fund, which is where that money comes from. The Inmate Welfare Fund is 

made up mostly of dollars from things like commissary markups, phone calls, 

tablet money and things like that. This money goes back to reimburse that fund.  

 

What we see in the current [fiscal] note is $9,715 per year. However, when you 

look at a 10-year average, actual collections are closer to $7,500 and over the 

last two years, NDOC collected about $6,000. There is currently over  

$12 million of outstanding debt. The collection rates on this type of debt for 

individuals who have been released is at best 0.0008 percent of all outstanding 

debt annually. In testimony during the Senate hearing, NDOC said they can 

spend as much as $5,400 a year in an attempt to collect this debt, which as I 

said, for the last two years was about $6,000.  

 

Some additional factors to take into consideration on the fiscal side is that when 

formerly incarcerated individuals are sent to collections, they are given 30 days 

to pay this debt in full. Sometimes that debt is in the tens of thousands of 

dollars. It is an impossible task. They are unable to build credit. We had 

testimony from formerly incarcerated individuals who, even after they found 

jobs, because they spent so long in debt collection, they were unable to rent 

homes. Even when they had money, they were unable to get car loans, which 

will have a negative impact financially on the State. Bad credit and an inability 

to do things like rent apartments is devastating for reentry and leads to 

recidivism. Even if one individual goes back into NDOC because of this debt, it 

is going to cost the State more money than passing this legislation. 
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SENATOR NGUYEN: 

I think you answered most of [my question]. I want it very clear on the record 

that all these providers in the community who are treating these individuals that 

have been transported, usually not of their own volition because they are in 

such a medical state that they have to go to outside services, are still getting 

paid. This decrease of $9,715 contained in this fiscal note does not take into 

consideration the number of hours the staff is utilizing to collect this $9,715. 

 

SENATOR SCHEIBLE: 

That is accurate. I confirmed this morning that money does not come out of the 

General Fund. It is from the Inmate Welfare Fund. Even if there is a shortfall, it 

is not out of the General Fund; it is the Inmate Welfare Fund.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Can you give us a definition of the Inmate Welfare Fund?  

 

SENATOR SCHEIBLE: 

I do not know about the definition, but I can explain what it is. The Inmate 

Welfare Fund is managed by NDOC. That is what is generally utilized to cover 

certain kinds of programming within NDOC. The money comes from things like 

phone calls and commissary. Previously, medical debt was put into the Inmate 

Welfare Fund, and it is completely contained within NDOC.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

The reason I asked for that is because some of that money is inmate paid 

money like their phone calls, for example. It is not all state money. 

 

SENATOR SCHEIBLE: 

Correct. I believe it is all inmate paid money. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 88. 

 

DENISE BOLAÑOS HEREDIA (Associate Director, Return Strong): 

We are an organization that advocates for the rights and dignity of incarcerated 

people and their families. We strongly support S.B. 88, and we urge you to do 

so. It costs NDOC more to pursue this medical debt than what is actually 

recovered. In reality, continuing to chase this debt is not only fiscally 

irresponsible, but it also yields no return. Eliminating it reduces wasteful 
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spending. It gives people a real second chance by removing a barrier to 

successful reentry. We urge you to support S.B. 88.  

 

NICOLE WILLIAMS (Board Member, Return Strong): 

I fully support this bill. Reentry after being incarcerated is hard enough and to 

add a medical debt is just another obstacle. Once released, any debt incurred 

within NDOC should be eliminated.  

 

KENNETH L. WILLIAMS (Medical Director, Nevada Department of Corrections): 

We are neutral on the position.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will close the hearing on S.B. 88, and we will open the hearing on S.B. 432. 

 

SENATE BILL 432 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to privacy. (BDR 11-

1020) 

 

SENATOR MELANIE SCHEIBLE (Senatorial District No. 9): 

Senate Bill 432 affects the privacy rights of people who are going through 

divorce and child custody proceedings.  

 

The policy committee saw fit to send the bill here to the Senate Finance 

Committee because there is small fiscal note on the bill, which, I understand, is 

because there is a possible penalty in the bill. If an individual takes part in what 

we would normally call doxing, if they utilize information gained from a private 

hearing to publicly post somebody else's personal information, their address, 

their place of work, something like that and encourage others to commit an act 

violence against them, this bill carves out a specific penalty for that, which 

would be a Category C felony. Therefore, it is theoretically possible that 

somebody would violate the law, and it is therefore theoretically possible that 

person would be sent to prison. In which case, it would cost us money to 

incarcerate that person. That is my understanding of the fiscal note.  

 

I would hope that we would take measures to prevent these things from 

happening. I would not anticipate this having a significant impact on the prison 

population, and I hope that you will consider allowing this bill to move forward. 
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CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 432. Hearing none, we will close the 

hearing on S.B. 432, and we will open the hearing on S.B. 36. 

 

SENATE BILL 36 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to water. (BDR 48-

384) 

 

SENATOR JULIE PAZINA (Senatorial District No. 12): 

Senate Bill 36 from the fiscal side, establishes provisions relating to 

conservation of groundwater. We are not asking for an appropriation, and the 

fiscal note from DCNR has been removed.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 36. 

 

CHRISTI CABRERA-GEORGESON (Deputy Director, Nevada Conservation League): 

We are here in strong support of S.B. 36. 

 

MS. FLANAGAN: 

The Southern Nevada Water Authority is in support of S.B. 36. We would like to 

thank Senator Pazina for all her hard work on this measure which we feel is an 

important and necessary step in protecting the water resources of the driest 

state in the nation.  

 

LAUREL SAITO (Nevada Water Strategy Director, Nevada Chapter, Nature 

Conservancy): 

We thank Senator Pazina and the Interim Committee on Natural Resources for 

bringing forward S.B. 36 on groundwater rights retirement and recognizing the 

importance of water resources for the future of the health and wellbeing of the 

people and economies of our State. Impacts of overuse of groundwater can take 

years, decades, or even centuries to reverse, and in some cases, such as the 

loss of species, they are irreversible.  

 

Building on lessons learned from other states in the pilot Nevada Water 

Conservation and Infrastructure Initiative, S.B. 36 creates a tool to address 

groundwater overuse by establishing a voluntary groundwater rights retirement 

program in Nevada that is aimed at permanently reducing consumptive use of 

groundwater in places with declining groundwater levels. Groundwater levels 
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conflict with existing water resources or impact groundwater dependent 

ecosystems.  

 

Should the bill be enacted, we stand ready to help with implementing a 

voluntary groundwater rights retirement program by seeking funds and 

implementing projects that can demonstrate effective groundwater retirement. 

We urge your support for this important legislation.  

 

MR. FONTAINE: 

We also would like to thank Senator Pazina, and we are here to support 

S.B. 36. 

 

REGAN COMIS (Walker Basin Conservancy): 

I am here today representing Walker Basin Conservancy. We would like to 

express our support for S.B. 36 and thank Senator Pazina. 

 

JAMES SETTELMEYER (Director, State Department of Conservation and Natural 

Resources): 

We are neutral on the bill but greatly appreciate Senator Pazina working with us 

and the stakeholders to get the bill where it is now.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

I will close the hearing on S.B. 36 and go to S.B. 317.  

 

SENATE BILL 317 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to industrial 

insurance. (BDR 53-625) 

 

SENATOR SKIP DALY (Senatorial District No. 13): 

The first bill I have is S.B. 317, which is a workers' compensation, biannual, 

pretty much omnibus bill, which all of the parties have worked through. 

 

We think everybody is at least in the neutral position or in support. The  

two gentlemen here can go through the policy and [answer] questions. If you 

want to hear a brief overview, you can let me know. 

 

Regarding the fiscal provisions, I think everybody knows that the Department of 

Business and Industry (B&I), Division of Industrial Relations, Workers' 

Compensation [program] is not a budget impact or a General Fund issue. It is all 

paid for by an assessment on the employers, for the administration of the 
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hearings and various things as well. We are hoping we can get the bill passed 

out of here with the understanding, that it does not really affect the State 

budget. If you want to hear from anybody on the policy, we are happy to do 

that. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Why don't you give us a two-sentence overview so that we understand where 

the bill is going? 

 

JASON MILLS (Nevada Justice Association): 

As Senator Daly indicated, it is the omnibus workers' compensation bill that 

does various changes throughout the Act that already went through the policy 

committee. I think the most important thing for your committee is that the fiscal 

note is, in fact, an assessment. The Division of Industrial Relations indicated in 

meetings with them that their fiscal note would go down to $215,000. The 

parties, whether it be gaming, insurers or the industry, have indicated that is a 

reasonable assessment they would be able to absorb.  

 

The Nevada Department of Administration, Hearings Division [would have] the 

addition of an appeals officer and a legal secretary, which is the cost for the 

assessment. The industry has generally been in support of those assessments 

because again, these are not General Fund items. I am happy to go over in any 

details about the bill, but I just wanted to hit those issues for you.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

I would appreciate some information on this amendment (Exhibit D). It is a very 

large amendment with, it appears, many changes in many, many different 

colors. Please go over the amendment. As I look at it I see new things added, 

but I also see things taken out.  

 

MR. MILLS: 

If you will note the version we have supplied is called "Final Version 5-16-25" 

Exhibit D. The entire thing is cut and pasted from the Legislative Counsel 

Bureau's (LCB) Amendment No. 312. Only the sections that are highlighted, 

which are sections 4.2, 4.3, 4.5, 9.5, 9.7, 14, 17, 30 and 35 are the actual 

changes happening here. 

 

These were to address a couple of policy issues that the Division of Industrial 

Relations had that affected their impact and to effect the changes, I believe, 
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that some entities wanted with regard to the start and stop dates. But if you 

scroll through, you will notice only the highlighted sections are the updates, and 

they are quite minor. I can walk through each one of those if you would like me 

to. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 317. 

 

JASON LESHER (Executive Director, Washoe County Sheriff Deputies Association; 

Public Safety Alliance of Nevada):  

We are in support of this bill.  

 

MISTY GRIMMER (Employers Insurance Company; Nevada Resort Association): 

We are also in support of the bill.  

 

PAUL ENOS (CEO, Nevada Trucking Association): 

We are also the sponsor of the Nevada Transportation Network Self Insured 

Group, and we are here today in support of S.B. 317. I just want to thank all 

the proponents through their work and negotiations in coming up with 

something that all of us could agree on.  

 

ANDY MACKAY (Executive Director, Nevada Franchised Auto Dealers 

Association): 

We fully support the bill. I want to thank Senator Daly as well as Mr. Mills and 

his team for working with us. This is a great piece of legislation.  

 

DALTON L. HOOKS, JR. (Nevada Self-Insurers Association, Inc.): 

I want to echo the comments of Mr. Mill, which is unusual, and thank  

Senator Daly for his work getting this bill whipped into shape. We appreciate it. 

We strongly support it.  

 

TODD INGALSBEE (President, Professional Fire Fighters of Nevada): 

We support this bill. We love the collaboration and everybody working together.  

 

CHARLES NORT (iGaming; T & R Painting and Drywall): 

I also reiterate the comments of the previous testimony given by people in 

support and the stakeholders, and also dealing with Mr. Mills and Senator Daly. 

I am in total support of S.B. 317 as amended.  
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VICTORIA CARREON (Administrator, Division of Industrial Relations, Nevada 

Department of Business and Industry): 

We are in opposition to the bill, but I want to clarify the fiscal note. This is not 

our point of opposition, but in regard to our fiscal note, it was stated that our 

fiscal note is down to $215,000. That is correct, provided that section 33.5 is 

going to also be amended to delete the nullification of regulations relating to the 

assessment for subsequent injury boards. I think that is just a technical 

correction that would happen when the amendment is completed. Provided that 

is occurring, it is true that our fiscal note would reduce to $215,000.  

 

Also, we are in opposition to the bill today. We do appreciate the work with 

Senator Daly and the other stakeholders. However, there is a section that we 

have concerns with. That is section 14, subparagraph 12. We have provided 

written testimony that is available to you (Exhibit E). So, I will just summarize.  

 

That section says, the administrator shall not require submission of such a list 

through any specific proprietary software platform or particular electronic 

system. That is relating to the list of the insurers sent to our division with their 

provider list. These are the lists of doctors that all of the injured workers can 

choose from. This language is diametrically opposed to a regulation that was 

adopted by the Legislative Commission in October 2024. That was R076-23 

and provided that insurers would be submitting their provider list to us through 

our electronic system, which is called the Claims and Regulatory Data System 

(CARDS).  

 

The State has invested the significant amount of $197,440 in that system. That 

is a financial consideration. I would like to ensure that you understand and can 

take that into account. We have already spent all that money, and the system is 

set to go live on June 2, 2025. There are lots of benefits to the system. It 

creates an easy way for injured workers to search for providers. It also allows 

them to download a list so that they can look at it in their free time and 

understand what their choices are. Currently, without this provision that allows 

the insurers to upload their list, injured workers are forced to look through a 

variety of PDF Excel documents that are very cumbersome to look through our 

website.  

 

There are also benefits to insurers and third-party administrators. They will have 

reduced time to create their lists. They simply have to upload a simple CSV file 

that has a provider name, provider number and the adjuster information. That is 
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all they have to do. The system will automatically match it up with all the 

addresses for the providers, their contact information, their specialties, the body 

parts they treat, etc. There are a lot of efficiencies we believe for the insurers 

as well. The insurers will be able to verify the accuracy of the information by 

downloading it, and they will also be able to upload the mental health provider 

list that is part of the bill.  

 

We just appreciate your consideration of our concerns and request that 

language be removed. 

 

SENATOR DALY: 

My understanding on the opposition testimony is that the money has been 

[spent] going forward. I understand there is a system that when a group puts in 

their list of providers, they want that to be the list. The State can still run it 

through the CARDS program and create a bigger general list. But, if they are 

going to litigation, my understanding is, that first list submitted before it runs 

through the system, which alters it and makes it into a bigger list, is the one 

they have to go to trial with. That is why they want to have this policy as it is.  

 

The concern from the Division of Industrial Relations is a policy issue. All of the 

people in support of this are in agreement with that. It is still all paid for by the 

assessment regardless and does not affect the budget. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will close the hearing on S.B. 317, and we will open the hearing on  

S.B. 318.  

 

SENATE BILL 318 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to charter schools. 

(BDR 34-89) 

 

SENATOR SKIP DALY (Senatorial District No. 13): 

Senate Bill 318 phases out, over time, the for-profit element in the public school 

system in relation to charter schools. Then the second thing it does, is it makes 

whoever the sponsoring authority is, whether that is the State Public Charter 

School Authority (SPCSA), the school districts, cities or counties that sponsor 

the charter school, report back to that sponsoring authority. The sponsoring 

authority then becomes responsible to make sure that the charter school follows 

the prevailing wage public works laws, bidding and paying prevailing wage.  
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My understanding on the fiscal note is, the SPCSA's portion of the fiscal note 

does not go to the SPCSA in any event. The portion the SPCSA is claiming will 

impact them, is also a self-funded program. It does not affect the state budget. 

It is not a General Fund issue. They are funded through the fees and various 

things they charge for people to make applications. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Are you saying there is no fiscal note?  

 

SENATOR DALY: 

My understanding is that it will not impact or come out of the General Fund to 

fund this because the impact the SPCSA claims on the fiscal note is paid for out 

of their assessment or their funding mechanism, which is not part of the state 

budget. They are independently funded. That is my understanding. Is that 

incorrect? 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

I am just a little confused. Their funding comes through the Pupil-Centered 

Funding Plan (PCFP). I am just trying to understand what you are saying, “paid 

out of an assessment”.  

 

MR. THORLEY: 

The SPCSA is funded by an assessment from all the sponsored charter schools, 

and it is an assessment on the per pupil amount. I think it is around 1.5 percent. 

It is an assessment on the per pupil amount that the charter schools receive.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 318. 

 

ALEXANDER MARKS (Deputy Executive Director of Field & Communications, 

Nevada State Education Association): 

I would like to ditto the previous speaker, Senator Daly. We have supported this 

on the other side.  

 

You can read our detailed support for the proposal and the limitation of 

contracting with education management organizations (EMO) or read Chartered 

for Profit, which is a report by the Network of Public Education.  
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Related to this fiscal note, we think this bill addresses the profit motive in 

Nevada's charter school system. These EMOs are largely unaccountable and not 

transparent as to their operations. For profit companies like Academica take 

millions of taxpayer dollars. We think the savings, if this is fully implemented, 

will actually help charter schools save money.  

 

EDDIE ABLESER (Academica Nevada): 

The fiscal analysis which you are supposed to analyze today has to do with the 

fact that the per pupil funding plan goes to our schools.  

 

The Local Education Agency is the SPCSA. The schools were asked what would 

happen if this bill actually became law. If this bill became law, then every single 

public charter school in the State of Nevada would be forced to in-house every 

operation of that school. That is education services. I do not know what [would] 

happen to SBAC [Smarter Balanced Assessment Consortium] for example, 

because we would not be able to engage a vendor with a private corporation. 

What would happen to snow removal, landscaping, and auditing, which we 

would have to do all in-house?  

 

The number reflected in the bill is because every single school was asked what 

would happen if you were prohibited, because that is what this bill does, is 

prohibit from contracting with a for-profit private company for any services 

outlined in the bill. That is why that fiscal note is extremely high because 

everything would be done in-house, and we would have to receive $140 million 

on behalf of the State to help fund those positions. 

 

I think my argument in opposition to the bill is that [contracted services] is done 

very cheaply by creating economies of scale where these public charter schools 

enter into compacts together to do these services extraordinarily cheap and to a 

lesser amount. I would also highlight there is no prohibition on our district 

friends who also have that ability to contract with for-profit private companies 

every single day for a lot more money than what public charter schools do.  

 

WILLIAM C. HORNE (Charter School Association of Nevada): 

We respectfully oppose S.B. 318. In the spirit of keeping our opposition to the 

fiscal arena for this committee, I would point the committee to the fiscal note 

submitted by the SPCSA that can be found on the Nevada Electronic Legislative 

Information System (NELIS). With the increase in administrative workload and 

responsibilities, the likelihood of necessity to hire additional management 
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analysts and the possibility of lease increases for many charter schools would 

cost more than $170 million over the biennium. Therefore, we urge this 

committee to oppose S.B. 318.  

 

SARAH ADLER (Coalition of Independent Charter Schools of Northern Nevada): 

We are neutral on the bill but wish to clarify the concern Dr. Ableser shared 

with you. We feel this was mitigated by an amendment to the bill on the policy 

side. We met with Senator Daly, and we feel this was clarified by an 

amendment that individual schools may contract with their janitor, cook, speech 

therapist or individual providers of services as needed. We would not want the 

bill to go forward without that understanding.  

 

CALEN EVANS (President, Washoe Education Association): 

We represent over 2,600 licensed members in Northern Nevada. I am here 

today to express our support for S.B. 318. This bill is not an indictment on 

charter schools. In fact, we recognize that many charters across Nevada, 

including several in Washoe County such as Honors Academy of Literature and 

Encompass Academy, are locally run and committed to their students and 

communities. These schools operate transparently without for-profit 

management and deliver real value to families who seek different educational 

options.  

 

Senate Bill 318 is not about limiting innovation or parent choice. It is about 

ensuring that public dollars stay in public education rather than being diverted to 

out-of-state, for-profit education management organizations that ultimately are 

focused on turning a profit. For-profit EMOs often operate behind closed doors 

with limited transparency and little public accountability. Their contracts can 

siphon away millions of taxpayer dollars from classroom educators and student 

supports, all without any clear evidence that they can improve student success. 

 

As educators we do not oppose charters; we oppose privatization. We oppose 

the idea that any public education dollars, whether going to a charter or a 

traditional true public education school, should be used to generate corporate 

profit. Our position is simple. Public education dollars belong in classrooms and 

not in corporate bank accounts.  

 

Senate Bill 318 puts in place common sense guardrails that prioritize 

transparency, fiscal responsibility and the long-term sustainability of public 

education in Nevada. We urge your support. 
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AL ROJAS: 

I am testifying in opposition. My background is in contract law. I oppose this bill 

because I do not see how these charter schools are operating more efficiently 

than the regular public schools. I ditto the person's comment who said that it is 

just going to make it harder to pick up snow on the street. It does not make any 

sense that the charter schools will have to go to somebody else to just take 

care of basic business. I think charter schools are doing well, and I think they 

should continue the way they are doing now.  

 

ASHLEY PERKINS: 

I am from the Elko Charter School in Elko, Nevada. I am calling in opposition 

also. This bill just hurts charter schools. We need to look at outcomes. If it 

costs less and the EMO routes are successful, why not put our money where 

the successes are? How many of the administration and superintendents come 

into these districts from out-of-state, pocket a pretty good chunk of change 

over a few years and then are out the door?  

 

Keeping state funds in the State is not working even at the district level. This 

year we spent about $250,000 towards our Special Education Department 

(SPED). We get $50,000 from the State. That means $200,000 of our general 

budget is going to SPED. With this bill in place, our SPED costs jump up to 

$1.8 million.  

 

There is no way that we can survive as a standalone single charter school in 

Elko, Nevada without hiring outside people who are not-for-profit. Again, I think 

we need to look at outcomes and get rid of all of these bills that have  

nothing …  

 

We need to look at outcomes, not inputs. Time does not matter. If we can 

spend that money and be successful, why are we going to block it? I oppose 

this bill.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will close S.B. 318, and we will go to S.B. 376.  

 

SENATE BILL 376 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing industrial 

insurance. (BDR 53-629) 

 

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/12671/Overview/
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SENATOR SKIP DALY (Senatorial District No. 13): 

Mr. Ryan Beaman can explain the policy if you need to hear it. [The bill] has to 

do with workers' compensation and trying to have a list of providers that will 

actually see and treat people. Workers need treatment if they have been injured 

at work. 

 

There are the two fiscal notes, one from the courts and one from the LCB that 

were zero, but might have had an impact. Both are now zero with no impact. I 

believe that addresses the fiscal note portion of this bill. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Would you just repeat the fiscal note piece of this?  

 

SENATOR DALY: 

My understanding is the first fiscal notes that had anything attached to them for 

the State was one from the courts, which was a zero fiscal note but said it 

could have an impact or was undetermined. A second fiscal note was from LCB 

where it said zero is the fiscal note, but it was indeterminable on what the 

impact might be. I know there was a letter from LCB that said it is zero with no 

impact. There is an email from the courts; they have not gotten the official 

letter that says zero with no impact. From my understanding, both of those 

agencies employ law enforcement people which could have been impacted. That 

is why it was undetermined. But after a little more work from Mr. Beaman who 

chased it down, my understanding is both of those are down to no fiscal 

impact.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will now hear testimony on S.B. 376. 

 

MR. MILLS: 

The Nevada Justice Association is in support of this very needed legislation.  

 

MR. LESHER: 

The Washoe County Sheriff Deputies Association and the Public Safety Alliance 

of Nevada are in support. I think that the language in this bill goes a long way 

toward addressing some of the things we have seen among our members and 

getting our people fixed up and back to work as quickly as possible.  
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MR. INGALSBEE: 

The Professional Fire Fighters of Nevada obviously support this bill. We see the 

need for this bill. It is well overdue, and we are looking forward to getting this 

passed so our members can get the treatment they need in a timely manner.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will close the hearing on S.B. 376. We will start with some BDR 

introductions. 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

As the committee members are aware, each session there are five major money 

bills. There is the Appropriations Act, which appropriates Highway Fund and 

General Fund monies and includes other language associated with spending in 

the back language. There is the Authorizations Act, which authorizes 

expenditure of money not from General Fund or Highway Fund. This is your 

federal funds, your fee funding and other funding. There is the K-12 Education 

Funding Bill, the Capital Improvement Program (CIP) Bill and then lastly, the Pay 

Bill, which has the maximum salaries for unclassified positions.  

 

Three of those bills will be introduced as Senate bills. That is the Authorizations 

Act, the CIP Bill and the K-12 Education Funding Bill. The other two bills will be 

introduced as Assembly bills. That is the Appropriations Act and the Pay Bill.  

 

Fiscal staff is going to walk the committee through all five BDRs. All five major 

money bills are posted on NELIS. The first three are in front of you and then we 

will get you the remaining two, as we go through them. We will go through all 

five of them in committee this evening. There will be a motion to introduce the 

three that are Senate bills as committee bills, and then they will be sent to the 

floor. 

 

JOHN KUCERA (Principal Program Analyst): 

The committee members should have BDR S-1231 (Exhibit F) in front of them. 

This will become the 2025 Authorizations Act, which implements budget 

decisions made by the money committees for non-General Fund and 

non-Highway Fund sources as well as back language to implement money 

committee decisions related to authorized funding for 404 budget accounts.  

 

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN1152F.pdf
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BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1231: Authorizes expenditures by agencies of the 

State Government for the 2025-2027 biennium. (Later introduced as 

Senate Bill 501.) 

 

There are two notable exceptions. One is for the Gaming Control Board, which, 

pursuant to statute, receives General Fund authorizations. Another is for the 

Nevada Department of Transportation (NDOT), which is authorized to expend 

Highway Fund monies. 

 

The 2025 Authorizations Act includes funding totaling $17.196 billion for  

FY 2025-2026 and $16.645 billion for FY 2026-2027. The following is a brief 

overview of the sections of the bill draft request.  

 

Section 1 is a line-item authorization for all 404 budget accounts totaling 

$17.151 billion in FY 2025-2026 and $16.6 billion in FY 2026-2027. Included 

in section 1 is the NDOT, Transportation Administration budget account, which 

includes Highway Fund authorizations of approximately $353.4 million and 

$364 million in FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027, respectively. Section 1 is 

pages 1 through 24 and includes all the authorized funding as recommended by 

the money committees.  

 

Section 2 is carryover language that outlines authorized tobacco settlement 

funding to support the Attorney General's Special Litigation and Investigations 

Unit budget account along with associated disbursements and reversion 

requirements. The language is carryover, but it includes the new Investigations 

Unit budget account.  

 

Sections 3 and 4 on page 26 includes General Fund authorizations to support 

the Gaming Control Board including $44.3 million in FY 2025-2026 and  

$43.9 million in FY 2026-2027, and the Nevada Gaming Commission including 

$663,726 in FY 2025-2026 and $647,638 in FY 2026-2027.  

 

Sections 5 and 6 are at the bottom of page 27 of the BDR. Both are carryover 

language. Beginning with section 5, which notes that all authorizations, 

excluding the Legislative and Judicial branches and the Tahoe Regional Planning 

Agency (TRPA), as well as the Public Employees Retirement System, are subject 

to the provisions of the State Budget Act in NRS 353.  
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Section 6 is carryover language allowing the Office of the Governor, Office of 

Finance (GFO) to submit work program revision requests to the Interim Finance 

Committee (IFC) to augment authorized amounts and requires authorizations to 

be reduced if the total anticipated to be received is less than included in the 

Act. Section 6 allows similar language for the Legislative Commission. 

 

Section 7 at the middle of page 28 is continuing language, which requires, 

notwithstanding a number of exemptions, that an agency, which receives both 

authorized and appropriated funding to revert appropriated funding to the extent 

authorized funding received is greater than budgeted. There are a number of 

exemptions listed, which I will note as we run through the BDR. Additional 

exemptions include, if decreases would jeopardize the receipt of a grant, there is 

a process to request a specific exemption from the IFC.  

 

Section 8 at the middle of page 29 of the BDR, authorizes the receipt of 

resident fees and nonresident tuition for the NSHE institutions. Subsections 2 

through 4 include the allowability to expend additional fee and tuition revenue, 

and also authorizes academic support payments. Subsection 4 is new language, 

which restricts the amount that would be reverted to the General Fund at the 

end of the fiscal year.  

 

Section 9 on page 31 of the BDR is carryover language and specifies the 

allocation of county assessments for the services of the public defender. 

Subsection 2 includes adjustments, if needed, for cost-of-living increases for the 

public defender's office and subsection 3 notes the public defender may accept 

any additional voluntary contributions. This is also a noted section 7 exemption.  

 

Section 10 is on the bottom of page 31. This is also carryover language that 

notes the tax on motor vehicle fuel used in watercraft for recreational purposes 

pursuant to NRS chapter 365 shall be allocated equally between the Nevada 

Department of Wildlife and the Division of State Parks.  

 

Section 11 on page 32 of the BDR allows money authorized for the Division of 

Forestry, Forestry Conservation Camps and Forest Fire Suppression budgets in 

DCNR for the cost of repair and maintenance of fire fighting and emergency 

response vehicles to be expended for that purpose.  

 

Section 12 is also carryover language that allows money authorized for the 

Division of Forestry and Forest Fire Suppression budgets for support of the 
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incident business unit to also be expended for that purpose. These are also 

section 7 exemptions.  

 

Section 13 is carryover language that authorizes special reserves in the Forest 

Fire Suppression budget up to $425,000. It also supports the incident business 

unit.  

 

Section 14 is carryover language that allows the Western Interstate Commission 

on Higher Education, Loans and Stipends budget to balance forward to the 

subsequent fiscal year expenditures related to the Health Profession Education 

Program related to revenue received following May 15 of each fiscal year.  

 

Section 15 is also carryover language, which begins on page 33 of the BDR and 

authorizes the Office of the Military to carry forward an unexpended balance in 

the Emergency Operations Center account.  

 

Section 16 authorizes the Division of Child and Family Services, Clark County 

and Washoe County Child Welfare budgets to utilize additional monies received 

to augment child welfare services with the approval of the IFC, which is another 

noted section 7 exemption.  

 

Section 17 on page 33 authorizes NSHE to carry forward any unexpended 

money authorized for the expenditure in section 8 to the next fiscal year and is 

also a section 7 exemption.  

 

At the bottom of page 33 is section 18. This is carryover language, which 

waives IFC approval requirements for any work program revision requests 

associated with the bond repayment costs of the bonds from the State 

Treasurer's Municipal Bond Bank Revenue or Municipal Bond Bank Debt Service 

budgets. 

 

Section 19 on page 34 is carryover language that requires revenue from the sale 

of any retired vehicle purchased with General Fund monies to be deposited back 

into the General Fund.  

 

Section 20 is carryover language that requires the Public Employees Benefits 

Program to comply with the work program revisions of NRS 353.220 when 

projecting funding available in excess of projected expenditures and requires the 
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program to request approval of the IFC upon the recommendation of the 

Governor to expend or otherwise obligate any reserves.  

 

Section 21 is updated revenue on page 34, which authorizes the Board of 

Directors of the Nevada State Infrastructure Bank to use money in the 

associated fund during either fiscal year of the 2025-2027 biennium from 

payments of interest or other assistance provided to a borrower, interest earned 

on money in the fund or associated fees.  

 

Section 22 on page 35 is carryover language that requires Nevada Medicaid and 

the Nevada Check Up Program to utilize authorized funds to continue the 

current service delivery model for prescription drugs. Similar language is also 

present in the Appropriations Act.  

 

Section 23 is carryover language that authorizes the Division of Child and 

Family Services to accept additional money to support the Victims of Crime 

budget accounts and is also a section 7 exemption.  

 

Section 24 on page 35 is new and permissive language, which authorizes the 

Commission on Ethics to expend authorized funding for the replacement of its 

case management system.  

 

The last three sections are on page 36. Section 25 is standard language, which 

is carried over and allows for budgets to be reorganized or for name changes 

that may be approved in legislation approved subsequent to this act.  

 

Section 26 is new language for the Authorization Act that enables allowing a 

committee to vote on the act prior to the expiration of the deadline related to 

fiscal notes.  

 

All sections in the Authorizations Act for 2025 become effective in 

FY 2025-2026, which is on July 1, 2025.  

 

JAMES MALONE (Principal Program Analyst): 

We will be walking the committee through the BDR introduction for the  

2025 K-12 Education Funding Bill, BDR S-1232 (Exhibit G). The amounts and 

language in this bill are reflective of the actions taken by the money committees 

during the legislative session and ensures sufficient funding for K-12 public 

education for the 2025-2027 biennium.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN1152G.pdf
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BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1232: Ensures sufficient funding for K-12 public 

education for the 2025-2027 biennium. (Later introduced as 

Senate Bill 500.) 

 

Section 1 provides for the total public support for school districts, charter 

schools and university schools for profoundly gifted pupils that is calculated at 

an estimated $13,889 on a per pupil basis in FY 2025-2026. These amounts 

include all state K-12 funding through the PCFP, and federal funding provided 

through the NDE. It does not include federal funding provided directly to the 

school districts. It does not include any one-time funding associated with the 

COVID-19 emergency or appropriations made to the IFC. Total funding all in, is 

federal, state and categorical divided by enrollment.  

 

Section 2 provides the total public support on a per-pupil basis at an estimated 

$13,963 in FY 2026-2027.  

 

LILLIANA CAMACHO-POLKOW (Program Analyst): 

I will start on section 3, page 2. Subsection 1, which includes General Fund 

appropriations for the PCFP account of $1.4 billion in each year of the 

2025-2027 biennium. Subsection 2 includes a legislative declaration that the 

amount appropriated is sufficient to fund the operation of K-12 education. 

Subsections 3, 4 and 5 include standard language requiring the General Fund 

appropriations to be subject to the requirements of the State Budget Act. The 

subsections also allow General Fund appropriations to be transferred between 

fiscal years with approval of the Governor upon the recommendation of the 

director of the GFO [and] without IFC approval.  

 

Section 4 starting on page 4, subsection 1 includes authorizations of  

$4.4 billion in FY 2025-2026. And subsection 2 includes authorizations of  

$4.4 billion in FY 2026-2027. These amounts reflect the funding provided by 

non-General Fund sources including property tax, local school support tax, 

governmental services tax and room tax revenue. Subsection 3 includes 

standard language requiring the authorizations to be subject to the requirements 

of the State Budget Act. The total amount of funding provided in section 3 of 

General Fund and section 4 of authorizations is $5.8 billion in FY 2025-2026 

and $5.8 billion in FY 2026-2027.  

 

Section 5, starting on page 4, begins the funding of the PCFP in FY 2025-2026. 

Based on the funding tiers established in chapter 387 of NRS, subsection 1 
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provides the transfers of funding for food services and transportation costs for 

each school district. Subsection 2 provides for the transfers of local funding for 

special education costs for each school district and all charter schools totaling 

$599.8 million in FY 2025-2026. Subsection 3 provides a statewide base per 

pupil funding of $9,416 in FY 2025-2026. Subsection 4 provides an adjusted 

base per pupil funding amount in FY 2025-2026 for each school district. 

Amounts include the statewide base per pupil funding as well as the Nevada 

Cost of Education Index and attendance area adjustments for each school 

district on the PCFP or the calculated per pupil amount for those school districts 

receiving the FY 2019-2020 baseline amount. Subsection 5 provides a 

statewide base per pupil funding amount of $9,416 that would be provided to 

pupils enrolled full-time in a program of distance education in FY 2025-2026 for 

each charter school or university school for profoundly gifted pupils as virtual 

charter schools only receive the statewide base per pupil funding amount, per 

NRS 387.1214.  

 

Subsection 6 indicates adjusted base per pupil funding would be provided for 

charter schools inclusive of the attendance area adjustments for those charter 

schools operating within those areas. These amounts vary based on the 

adjusted base amount as well as the attendance area adjustment calculated for 

each area. Subsection 7 provides the calculated weights for English Learners of 

0.45, at-risk pupils of 0.35, and gifted and talented pupils of 0.12.  

 

Subsection 8 provides the weighted funding that would be provided to individual 

school districts, charter schools combined and the university schools for 

profoundly gifted pupils in FY 2025-2026. The totals for English Learners would 

be $232.7 million, at-risk funding total of $165 million, and gifted and talented 

funding total of $9.9 million. Subsection 9 details the school districts that 

would receive FY 2019-2020 baseline amounts under the PCFP in  

FY 2025-2026. Those are Esmeralda, Eureka and Storey County school 

districts. And the subsection further clarifies that these school districts may 

reapportion base and weight funding to provide a reasonably equal educational 

opportunity for its pupils.  

 

Section 6, beginning on page 10, is similar to section 5 and begins funding the 

PCFP in FY 2026-2027 based on the funding tiers established in NRS 387. 

Subsection 1 provides the transfers of funding for food services and 

transportation costs for each school district. Subsection 2 provides the transfers 

of local funding for special education costs for each school district and all 
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charter schools totaling $599.8 million in FY 2026-2027. Subsection 3 provides 

a statewide base per pupil funding of $9,486 in FY 2026-2027. Subsection 4 

provides the adjusted base per pupil funding amount in FY 2026-2027 for each 

school district. Amounts include the base per pupil funding as well as the 

Nevada Cost of Education Index and attendance area adjustments for each 

school district on the PCFP or the calculated per pupil amount for those school 

districts receiving the FY 2019-2020 baseline amount. Subsection 5 provides a 

statewide base per pupil funding amount of $9,486 that would be provided to 

pupils enrolled full-time in a program of distance education in FY 2026-2027 for 

each charter school or university school for profoundly gifted pupils, as virtual 

charter schools only receive the statewide base per pupil funding amount per 

NRS 387.1214.  

 

Subsection 6 indicates adjusted base per pupil funding would be provided for 

charter schools inclusive of the attendance area adjustments for those charter 

schools operating within those areas. These amounts vary based on the 

adjusted base amount and the attendance area adjustments calculated for each 

area. Subsection 7 provides the calculated rates for English Learners of 0.45, 

at-risk pupils of 0.35, and gifted and talented pupils of 0.12. Subsection 8 

provides the weighted funding that would be provided in FY 2026-2027 to 

individual school districts, charter schools combined and the university schools 

for profoundly gifted pupils. The total for English Learners is $234.4 million, the 

at-risk funding total is $166.2 million, and the gifted and talented funding total 

is $9.9 million. Subsection 9 details the school districts that would receive  

FY 2019-2020 baseline amounts under the PCFP in FY 2026-2027. Those 

districts are Esmeralda, Eureka and Storey County school districts. This section 

further clarifies that these school districts may reapportion base and weight 

funding to provide a reasonably equal educational opportunity for its pupils.  

 

Section 7 on page 15 indicates the measure used to identify at-risk pupils is the 

Graduation Related Analytic Data (GRAD) score within the Infinite Campus 

system for FY 2025-2026. It also prescribes the GRAD score as the measure 

for FY 2026-2027 unless the State Board of Education prescribes otherwise 

with a proportional adjustment to the at-risk identifier and changes in 

distributions to local educational agencies, subject to IFC approval. 

 

YURIY IKOVLEV (Program Analyst): 

On page 16, section 8, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of 

$257.6 million in FY 2025-2026 and $262.4 million in FY 2026-2027 for the 
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Account for State Special Education Services. Subsection 2 provides 

authorizations of $2 million in each year of the 2025-2027 biennium in the 

Account for State Special Education Services. This is balanced forward funding 

utilized to fund extraordinary special education expenditures. Subsections 3 and 

4 provide the transfer of $256.1 million in FY 2025-2026 and $260.9 million in 

FY 2026-2027 for state special education funding provided to school districts, 

charter schools and university schools for profoundly gifted pupils largely based 

on their special education enrollment as a multiplier.  

 

Subsections 5 and 6 provide the transfer of $1.5 million in both FY 2025-2026 

and FY 2026-2027 for state special education funding provided to school 

districts and charter schools with special education enrollment that exceeds the 

13 percent funding cap. Subsection 7 and 8 provide the transfer of $2 million 

that is utilized to fund extraordinary special education expenditures that are not 

ordinarily present in the typical special education service and delivery system at 

a public school. Subsection 9 includes reversion language.  

 

Section 9, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $162.4 million 

in both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the Other State Education 

Programs Account. Subsection 2 is standard language requiring the General 

Fund appropriations to be subject to the requirements of the State Budget Act. 

Subsection 3 provides the transfer of $19.3 million in FY 2025-2026 and  

FY 2026-2027 from the Other State Education Programs Account for the Adult 

High School Diploma Program. Subsection 4 is the annual reporting requirement 

for that program. Subsection 5 requires any remaining funding in FY 2025-2026 

for the Adult High School Diploma Program to be balanced forward and added 

to FY 2026-2027 funding, and then requires any remaining funding at the end 

of FY 2026-2027 to revert to the General Fund.  

 

Subsection 6 provides that money appropriated as outlined in this section is 

available for both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 and may be transferred 

from year to year with IFC approval. Paragraph A provides the transfer of  

$3.9 million in both years from the Other State Education Programs Account for 

the Jobs for Nevada Graduates Program. Paragraph B provides the transfer of 

$300,000 in both years from the Other State Education Programs Account to 

NDE for transfer to the Leadership Institute of Nevada for the implementation 

and operation of education leadership training programs. Subsection 7 includes 

annual reporting requirements for that program.  
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Subsection 8 requires the remaining General Fund appropriations for the Jobs 

for Nevada’s Graduates Program and the Leadership Institute of Nevada to 

revert to the General Fund at the end of FY 2026-2027. Subsections 9 and 10 

provide the transfer of $13.5 million in both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 

for the award of grants for the Career and Technical Education Program. Any 

unused funding must revert to the General Fund at the end of each fiscal year.  

 

Subsections 11 and 12 provide the transfer of $462,725 in both FY 2025-2026 

and FY 2026-2027 from the Other State Education Programs Account for the 

award of grants to support public broadcasting in the State. Once again, any 

unused funding must revert to the General Fund at the end of each fiscal year. 

Subsections 13 through 15 provide $124.9 million in both FY 2025-2026 and 

FY 2026-2027 to be distributed to school districts to maintain salary increases 

for teachers and education support professionals. Funding shall be distributed 

monthly in one-twelfth apportionments. Any unused funding must revert to the 

General Fund at the end of each fiscal year.  

 

Section 10, subsection 1 authorizes $2.4 million in both FY 2025-2026 and  

FY 2026-2027 for the Incentivizing Pathways to Teaching Grant Program. 

Subsection 2 provides parameters of the funding and subsection 1, provides any 

appropriations and any other funding made available to the program be used to 

provide stipends at a specified rate.  

 

Section 11, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $7.7 million in 

both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the Professional Development 

Programs Account. Subsection 2 is standard language regarding the State 

Budget Act. 

 

Section 12, subsections 1 and 2 provide the transfer of $7.6 million in both  

FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the Professional Development Programs 

Account to the NDE for transfer to school districts that serve as fiscal agents. 

As identified in this section, the following transfers would occur in both years: 

to the Clark County School District, $4 million; to the Elko County School 

District, $1.3 million; and to the Washoe County School District, $2.3 million. 

Subsection 3 requires any remaining funding from FY 2025-2026 for the 

Professional Development Programs to be balanced forward and added to  

FY 2026-2027 funding. Any remaining funding at the end of FY 2026-2027 

reverts to the General Fund.  
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Section 13, subsections 1 and 2, provide the transfer of $100,000 in both  

FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the Professional Development Programs 

account to the NDE for transfer to the Statewide Council for the Coordination of 

Regional Training Programs to provide additional training opportunities for 

education administrators in Nevada. Subsection 3 requires any remaining 

funding in FY 2025-2026 to balance forward to FY 2026-2027 and then revert 

at the end of FY 2026-2027, if unspent, to the General Fund.  

 

Section 14, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $882,946 in 

FY 2025-2026 to the IFC for the Professional Development Programs Account. 

Subsection 2 allows an allocation of the funds to the NDE if sufficient 

supporting documentation detailing the amount for collectively bargained salary 

and benefit increases is provided. Subsections 3 and 4 require various reversion 

language.  

 

Section 15, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $560,886 in 

both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the 1/5 Retirement Credit Purchase 

Program Account. Subsection 2 allows the funding to be transferred between 

fiscal years with IFC approval.  

 

Section 16, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $2.4 million in 

both FY 2025-2026 and FY 2026-2027 for the Teach Nevada Scholarship 

Program. Subsection 2 is standard language regarding the State Budget Act and 

subsections 3 and 4 provide authorizations of $4.5 million in each year, which 

is largely balance forward funding for the Teach Nevada Scholarship Program 

Account.  

 

Section 17, subsection 1 provides General Fund appropriations of $323,628 in 

FY 2025-2026 to the Nevada Teacher Advancement Scholarship Program 

Account. Section 18 provides authorization of $323,628 in FY 2026-2027 for 

that same account.  

 

Section 19, subsection 1 directs the State Controller to draw their warrant and 

transfer $126.9 million from the Education Stabilization Account to the PCFP 

Account FY 2024-2025. Section 20, subsection 1 directs the State Controller 

to draw their warrants and transfer $115.7 million from the Education 

Stabilization Account to the PCFP Account in FY 2025-2026.  
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Section 21, subsection 1 provides authorizations of $755.3 million  

FY 2025-2026 for the Education Stabilization Account. Subsection 2 authorizes 

$648.7 million in FY 2026-2027 and subsection 3 is standard language 

regarding the state budget account. 

 

Section 22 is cleanup language. Sections 23 and 24 amend NRS 391A.705 and 

391A.710 to remove the Incentivizing Pathways to Teaching Grant Program 

provisions allowing the program to provide tuition assistance consistent with the 

closing actions of the money committees.  

 

Section 25 indicates this Act can be voted on prior to the period of submission 

for fiscal notes expiring. Section 26 repeals NRS 388.397 consistent with the 

closing actions of the full money committees, which allowed the NDE to carry 

forward remaining Career and Technical Education appropriations to following 

fiscal years. Section 27 outlines the effective dates of this bill. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

I have a lot [of questions], but I will just go with one. In section 21, the last one 

here, just [provide] a clarification on the expenditures from or transfers to. Are 

we taking that $755 million out from the Education Stabilization Account, or are 

we putting that money into the Education Stabilization Account?  

 

MR. MALONE: 

The authorizations in section 21 make up the balance forwards that are going 

into the budget account. These are tied to the reserve for the Education 

Stabilization Account. There is no authorization for expenditure. If they would 

like to utilize those funds over the interim, they would have to seek IFC 

approval.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

So, right now in that Education Stabilization Account, is there $755 million?  

 

MR. MALONE: 

[That is] correct. That is the estimated balance going into FY 2025-2026. Then 

the estimated balance going into FY 2026-2027 will be the $648.7 million. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

That is as it stands right now. Is that regardless of bills that are out there?  
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MR. MALONE: 

That is correct. To clarify, are you seeking the balance in the Education 

Stabilization Account prior to the section 19, FY 2024-2025, transfer?  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

That is correct. 

 

MR. MALONE: 

Prior to that transfer, the estimated balance in Education Stabilization Account 

is $845.8 million. After the two transfers, the estimated balance will be 

$648.7 million.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

That money has not been transferred yet, correct? 

 

MR. MALONE: 

That is correct.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

Just for clarification, are we mandated to transfer that money? What does it 

take to not transfer that money?  

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Sections 19 and 20 of this bill would mandate the transfer of funds from the 

Education Stabilization Account to the PCFP account in those amounts listed in 

those sections for those fiscal years. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

If we needed to take money out or stop that transfer, would a separate bill be 

mandated to stop that transfer?  

 

MR. THORLEY: 

[That is] correct. If this bill was approved by the Legislature and signed by the 

Governor, the State Controller would be required by law to make those 

transfers. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

The only way that would stop is a separate bill — or how would that work if we 

are not to make that transfer?  
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MR. THORLEY: 

The only way to make that stop would be to pass separate legislation to 

essentially stop those transfers.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will go on to our next BDR. 

 

JULIE WALLER (Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst): 

Bill Draft Request S-1233 (Exhibit H) implements the 2025 CIP. The money 

committees closed the 2025 CIP on May 12, 2025. This bill requires a 

two-thirds vote as it includes the 17 percent property tax rate to fund the debt 

service of the state general obligation bonds.  

 

BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1233: Authorizes and provides funding for certain 

projects of capital improvement. (Later introduced as Senate Bill 502.) 

 

A number of the projects have multiple funding sources and as such will be 

listed in multiple sections of the bill. Section 1 appropriates $99.5 million from 

the General Fund to support 27 projects in the 2025 CIP for various agencies 

identified under this section. Section 2 limits the authority to expend these 

appropriations through June 30, 2029, and establishes a reversion of any 

remaining funds for the projects identified in section 1.  

 

Capital Improvement Program projects typically have a four-year period in which 

funds are appropriated and or authorized. Therefore, this section provides for 

that time period. Similar language is included in sections 4, 7 and 9 to address 

the reversion of various sources of funds to support the 2025 CIP.  

 

Section 3, which is on page 5, appropriates $9.9 million from the Highway Fund 

to support seven projects in the 2025 CIP identified under this section.  

Section 5 restricts the transfer of funds from the Highway Fund for projects 

identified in section 3 until contract payments are required.  

 

Section 6 authorizes $799.3 million in new general obligation bonds for 

projects, which are identified under this section. This section also reallocates 

$1.7 million of bond proceeds from previously issued bonds under prior CIP 

legislation from 2019 for projects identified under this section. This will allow 

for bond proceeds already issued to be spent before the proceeds of any new 

bonds issued pursuant to this section.  

http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Session/83rd2025/Exhibits/Senate/FIN/SFIN1152H.pdf
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Some notable projects under section 6 that are to be financed with general 

obligation bonds include: Project No. 25-C05, which has $14.6 million for the 

rehabilitation of the Hobart Dam; the purchase of five office buildings for state 

use in Las Vegas, Project No. 25-C26 for $71.2 million; and the purchase of an 

office building in Reno, Project No. 25-C27 for $22.4 million.  

 

Project No. 25-C05 — Additional Funds for Hobart Dam Rehabilitation (MLWS) 

Project No. 25-C26 — State Office Buildings Purchase and Improvements (Las 

Vegas) 

Project No. 25-C27 — State Office Building Purchase (Reno) 

 

On page 8, is Project No. 25-M06 for NDOC for $58.9 million for the 

evaporative cooling replacement for housing units 1 through 12 in High Desert 

State Prison. Project No. 25-C01, there is $381.8 million in bonds for Southern 

Nevada Forensic Facility in Las Vegas.  

 

Project No. 25-M06 — Evaporative Cooling Replacement for HU 1-12 (HDSP) 

Project No. 25-C01 — Southern Nevada Forensic Facility 

 

Section 8 authorizes $6.7 million in general obligation bonds for  

two Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) projects including $4.9 million for CIP 

Project No. 25-C17 for Central Services and Records Division renovation in 

Carson City. The section also establishes the required annual debt service 

payment on bonds for these projects from the Highway Fund.  

 

Project No. 25-C17 — Central Services and Records Division Renovation 

(Department of Motor Vehicles, Carson City) 

 

Section 10 on page 12 specifies that the State Board of Finance may issue 

general obligation bonds for the 2025 CIP when it is deemed appropriate. 

Subsection 2 allows the State Controller to advance General Fund 

appropriations upon the approval of the Director of the GFO until such time as 

the date the bonds are sold to finance a project approved in the 2025 CIP. 

Subsection 3 allows the State Controller to advance Highway Fund money if 

bonds have not yet been sold to finance the projects approved in the 2025 CIP. 

If General Fund or Highway Fund monies are advanced, the amounts must be 

immediately repaid to the General Fund or Highway Fund upon the issuance of 

the bonds.  
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Subsection 4 requires written notification from the director of the GFO to the 

State Controller, State Treasurer and the Senate and Assembly Fiscal analysts if 

a General Fund and/or Highway Fund advance has been approved and a 

reconciliation demonstrating the General Fund and/or Highway Fund has been 

reimbursed.  

 

Section 11, subsection 1 allows for the reallocation of $11.8 million in 

unexpended General Fund appropriations approved by the 2023 Legislature for 

use for the project identified in subsection 2. Subsection 2 directs the 

Department of Administration, State Public Works Division to transfer  

$11.8 million to finance, in part, CIP Project No. 25-M01, deferred maintenance 

for NSHE.  

 

Project No. 25-M01 — Deferred Maintenance (HECC/SHECC) 

 

Section 12 limits the authority to expend the reallocated General Funds through 

June 30, 2029, and establishes a reversion of any remaining funds for the 

project identified in section 11.  

 

Section 13 authorizes $165.5 million from funding sources other than the 

General Fund or the state Highway Fund for projects identified in this section. 

This includes authority for federal funds and agency funds. Subsection 2 

requires the State Public Works Division to not execute a contract for 

construction of a project approved in the 2025 CIP that includes authorized 

non-state receipts until the State Public Works Division has determined that the 

non-state funding authorized has been awarded and or is available for 

expenditure. 

 

Section 14 at the bottom of page 15, requires the State Public Works Division 

use only qualified personnel to execute the 2025 CIP. Section 15 requires state 

and local government entities to cooperate with the State Public Works Division 

in carrying out the provisions of the CIP.  

 

Section 16 authorizes $6 million in bonds for the Cultural Centers and Historic 

Preservation Grant Program. Subsection 2 clarifies the term “proceeds”, which 

means amounts received from the sale of bonds as well as any accrued interest.  
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Section 17 approves $10.5 million in bonds for the Lake Tahoe Basin 

Environmental Improvement Program with authorized uses of the proceeds 

provided in S.B. 83 of this session. 

 

SENATE BILL 83 (1st Reprint): Requires the issuance of bonds for environmental 

improvement projects in the Lake Tahoe Basin. (BDR S-376) 

 

Section 18 approves not more than $33.9 million in bonds for the program for 

providing grants for water conservation and capital improvements to certain 

water systems. Section 19 approves $63.4 million in bonds for conservation 

programs authorized under A.B. No. 84 of the 80th Session in 2019.  

 

Section 20 at the bottom of page 17 approves ad valorem taxes for general 

obligation debt service and the Q1 bond program. The conservation bond 

program established through A.B. No. 84 of the 80th Session and for the 

State's general obligation debt, [states] 16.18 cents on every $100 of assessed 

valuation will be used to support existing general obligation debt of the State for 

prior bond issuances and for the bonds that are sold for the 2025 CIP.  

 

For the Q1 Program and the Conservation Program established through 

A.B. No. 84 of the 80th Session, 82 cents for every $100 of assessed valuation 

will be used to support the bonds that were sold for the Q1 Program and that 

will be sold for the Conservation Bond Program established through A.B. No. 84 

of the 80th Session. The overall rate of 17 cents per $100 of assessed 

valuation remains the same as approved for the current biennium.  

 

Section 22 on page 19 requires the State Treasurer estimate whether there is 

sufficient funding and determine if that amount exists in the Consolidated Bond 

Interest and Redemption Fund to pay the principal and interest on past CIP 

issuances as well as current issuances. If there is not enough money in the 

Consolidated Bond Interest and Redemption Account, the State Treasurer can 

request the State Controller to reserve money in the General Fund to pay those 

debts.  

 

Section 23 on page 20 authorizes the State Board of Finance to pay expenses 

related to the issuance of general obligation bonds from the proceeds of those 

bonds.  

https://www.leg.state.nv.us/App/NELIS/REL/83rd2025/Bill/11959/Overview/
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Section 24 authorizes money to pay for the bonds in the Consolidated Bond 

Interest and Redemption Account. This would amount to $180.9 million in  

FY 2025-2026 and $180.6 million in FY 2026-2027.  

 

Section 25 on page 21 authorizes the State Public Works Division, with the 

approval of the IFC, to transfer money from one project to another within the 

same agency.  

 

Section 26 approves $3 million from the Special Capital Construction Fund for 

allocation to the NSHE deferred maintenance projects, CIP 25-M01. It requires 

the balance of this funding remaining on June 30, 2029, to be reverted to the 

Special Capital Construction Fund for Higher Education on or before  

September 21, 2029.  

 

Section 27 on page 22 appropriates $33.9 million in General Fund to the 

Legislative Fund for the CIP for the LCB.  

 

Section 28 authorizes $191.9 million in general obligation bonds for CIP for the 

LCB and provides that any remaining balance of the allocated amounts must  

be reverted to the Bond Interest and Redemption Fund on or before  

September 21, 2029.  

 

Section 29 on page 23 specifies the State Board of Finance will issue general 

obligation bonds for the capital improvement projects for the LCB when it is 

deemed appropriate. Subsection 2 allows the State Controller to advance 

General Fund money if bonds have not yet been sold to finance a project for the 

LCB. Subsection 3 requires written notifications from the director of the LCB to 

the State Controller, State Treasurer and the Senate and Assembly Fiscal 

analysts if a General Fund advance has been approved and a reconciliation 

provided to the Legislative Commission demonstrating the General Fund and or 

Highway Fund has been reimbursed.  

 

Section 30 specifies that the State Board of Finance shall approve a  

single issuance of bonds for all projects proposed for issuance at the same 

meeting and may not vote separately or otherwise distinguish between projects.  

 

Sections 31 and 32 revise the reversion language from prior CIPs to extend the 

reversion dates, thereby extending project authority for two years for the 

projects listed in these sections. These sections also allow for the reallocation of 
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the remaining proceeds for bonds issued under prior authorizations approved by 

past legislatures used for projects identified in section 6.  

 

Section 33 authorizes the cancellation of CIP Project No. 23-C33, described as 

Southern Nevada Small Arms Range, Nevada Army National Guard in 

accordance with NRS 241.145 [341.145] subsection 1, paragraph (j).  

Section 34 aligns the effective dates for this act.  

 

Project No. 23-C33 — Southern Nevada Small Arms Range (Nevada Army 

National Guard) 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

Back on page 7, the CIPs for the Department of Administration for the Hobart 

Dam [project], it was my impression we were not going to do the Hobart Dam. 

But am I looking at that decision on page 25? Will we remove that? Where is 

that decision now?  

 

MS. WALLER: 

No, I believe the money committees did move forward with approving the 

funding to rehabilitate the Hobart Dam. The Governor's recommended CIP 

originally included the $4 million, and then the money committees approved the 

additional $10 million to replace that $10 million Federal Emergency 

Management Agency grant that was rescinded.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

The ad valorem tax that we are now adding is 16.18 cents, and our cap is  

17 cents; is that correct? I just want to know that we are not adding the  

16 [cents] on top of a 17-cent ad valorem tax. 

 

MS. WALLER: 

No, that is the breakdown of the 17 cents.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

I just wanted to get it on the record that this is not an additional 16 cents on 

top of our 17 cents. But we are retiring bonds and now … but that would be 

the existing ad valorem tax.  
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MS. WALLER: 

Each session, the ad valorem tax must be approved in the CIP. It is not 

additional. It is 17 cents for all bond issuances prior and future.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

I would take a motion on BDR S-1231, BDR S-1232 and BDR S-1233. 

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO INTRODUCE BDR S-1231, BDR S-1232 

AND BDR S-1233. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

Just for clarification, this is just to introduce these bills. I want to put that on 

the record. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Yes ma'am. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will hear BDR S-1228. 

 

BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1228: Makes various changes regarding state financial 

administration and makes appropriations for the support of the civil 

government of the State. (Later introduced as Assembly Bill 591.) 

 

NANCY MORRIS (Senior Program Analyst): 

Bill Draft Request S-1228 (Exhibit I) will become the Appropriations Act. The 

Appropriations Act implements budget decisions made by the money 

committees for the General Fund and Highway Funded budgets as well as back 

language to implement money committee decisions related to appropriated 

funding. Sections 1 through 34 of the bill, which are on pages 1 through 18, 

include General Fund appropriations for the operation of state government 

totaling $4.209 billion in FY 2025-2026 and $4.344 billion in FY 2026-2027, or 

$8.553 billion over the 2025-2027 biennium, an increase of approximately 
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$1.511 billion or 21.5 percent, when compared to General Fund appropriations 

approved by the 2023 Legislature for the 2023-2025 biennium.  

 

Included in sections 1 through 34, is new section 18 for the Nevada Health 

Authority, which is structured similar to that of the Authorizations Act.  

Section 35 of the bill includes Highway Fund appropriations totaling  

$198.3 million in FY 2025-2026 and $201.7 million in FY 2026-2027, or  

$400 million over the 2025-2027 biennium, which is an increase of 

approximately $63.9 million or 19 percent from the previous biennium. As noted 

by the presentations for the Authorizations Act and the K-12 budgets, there are 

budgets excluded from the Appropriations Act, including seven K-12 budgets in 

the Education Bill and General Fund authorizations for the Gaming Control 

Board, the Gaming Commission, and Highway Fund authorizations for NDOT, 

which are in the Authorizations Act. Staff would also note General Fund 

appropriations in the back language of the Appropriations Act total $24.6 million 

in FY 2025-2026 and $105,182 in FY 2026-2027.  

 

Section 36 of the Act is revised language requiring appropriations to be 

expended in accordance with NRS 353.150 to 353.246 inclusive, also known 

as the State Budget Act. Section 36 notes funds are appropriated to separate 

fiscal years and transfers between categories will be made in accordance with 

the State Budget Act, with the approval of the IFC, upon recommendation of 

the Governor. This section excludes entities that are exempt from the State 

Budget Act, including the Legislative Fund, the Supreme Court and the TRPA. 

Also in this section is language regarding the timing and allowability of transfers 

between budgets.  

 

Section 37 is a carryover section, which enumerates 23 budgets that are 

allowed to transfer appropriations between fiscal years. Section 38 is carryover 

language that allows for the transfer of appropriations related to deferred 

maintenance or extraordinary maintenance between fiscal years of the 

2025-2027 biennium within the same budget. Section 39 is carryover language, 

which allows $25,000 appropriated to the GFO's Special Appropriation Budget 

is available in both fiscal years to support the Civil Air Patrol over the 

2025-2027 biennium.  

 

Section 40 is carryover language, which allows for $1 million in each year of 

the 2025-2027 biennium to be available for expenditure in either year of the 
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2025-2027 biennium related to broadband improvement for schools for the 

Governor's Office, Office of Science, Innovation and Technology.  

 

Section 41 is new language that allows the amounts appropriated to the 

Commission on Ethics for the implementation of a new electronic case 

management system to be available in both years of the 2025-2027 biennium. 

 

Section 42 on page 23, is new language that provides that money remaining in 

the Workforce Innovations for a New Nevada account remaining at the end of 

FY 2025-2026 to carry forward to FY 2026-2027, and remaining funds at the 

end of FY 2026-2027 to revert to the General Fund.  

 

Section 43 is new language that provides that monies appropriated are available 

in each year and that money remaining in the Merit Award Board budget 

account at the end of FY 2025-2026 are available in FY 2026-2027.  

 

Section 44 is revised language that relates to the Supreme Court and allows for 

the transfer of General Fund appropriations between fiscal years and budget 

accounts for certain Supreme Court operating budget accounts. In addition, 

General Fund appropriations in the Administrative Office of the Court's budget 

account are available for both fiscal years of the 2025-2027 biennium including 

approximately $350,000 to fund comprehensive training and education, 

approximately $168,000 for contract staffing to maintain legacy information 

technology systems, approximately $352,000 for an electronic portal for the 

Guardianship Program, $1.1 million for the Supreme Court's technology unit to 

operate independent of the Executive Branch and $39,397 to expand the Court 

Interpreter Program.  

 

Section 45 is carryforward language, which allows $2 million of State Highway 

Funds in each year of the 2025-2027 biennium to be available for either year of 

the biennium to support DMV credit card fees.  

 

Section 46 is new language that provides that remaining funding for the 

Graduate Medical Education Grant Program in the Office of Science, Innovation 

and Technology at the end of FY 2024-2025, FY 2025-2026 and  

FY 2026-2027 to carry forward and not revert to the General Fund.  

 

Section 47 is new language that suspends transfers to the Rainy Day Account 

over the 2025-2027 biennium.  
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Section 48 is new language that provides the funds appropriated in section 21 

to the Prison Ranch and Prison Industry budget accounts do not revert to the 

General Fund.  

 

Section 49 is carryover language that requires any remaining balance of the  

$1 million appropriation made in 2015 to support sagebrush improvement 

projects not revert to the General Fund.  

 

Section 50 is existing language that provides that $50,000 in each year of the 

2025-2027 biennium to be available for either year for the support of the DCNR 

administration contract services to update the Conservation Credit System 

Manual and the Nevada Scientific Methods document and Habitat Quantification 

Tool.  

 

Section 51 is carryover language noting appropriations in the Knowledge 

account and the Main Street account within GOED must be carried forward and 

do not revert to the General Fund.  

 

Section 52 is continuing language for the NSHE special projects budget allowing 

funding to be carried forward for up to two fiscal years before the unspent 

balance must be reverted to the General Fund.  

 

Sections 53 through 64, on pages 30 through 34, allow for the transfer of 

appropriated funds between or among budgets. Section 53 is continuing 

language allowing for the transfer of appropriations related to salaries between 

budgets within the same department or division.  

 

Section 54 is carryforward language stipulating the amounts appropriated to the 

Legislative Fund are available for either fiscal year and may be transferred 

among the legislative budgets.  

 

Section 55 is continuing language providing for the Department of Human 

Services, Division of Social Services to transfer appropriations among its 

budgets. Section 56 is continuing language allowing transfers between the 

Medicaid and Nevada Check Up budgets within the Nevada Health Authority.  

 

Section 57 is continuing language allowing transfer of General Fund 

appropriations among the three Division of Child and Family Services’, juvenile 

justice budgets. Section 58 is continuing language allowing transfers between 
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the two Division of Child and Family Services’ mental health budgets.  

Section 59 is continuing language allowing transfers among the Division of 

Public and Behavioral Health, behavioral health budgets.  

 

Section 60 is carryforward language relating to the Upper Payment Limit budget 

and allows for the transfer of savings realized in the Department of Human 

Services budgets to fund the state share of the Private Hospital Collaborative 

Supplemental Payment Program and to fund reversions to both the General Fund 

and the Fund for a Healthy Nevada.  

 

Section 61 is continuing language allowing transfers among the Regional Center 

budgets within the Division of Aging and Disability Services budgets. Section 62 

is continuing language allowing for the transfer from either the Medicaid or 

Nevada Check Up budgets to the Administration budget within the Nevada 

Health Authority to support administrative activities.  

 

Section 63 is continuing language that allows for the transfer of funds among 

NSHE budget accounts included in the Executive Budget. Section 64 is revised 

language that allows for the transfer of funds among NDOC budgets. The new 

Training Academy budget within NDOC is excluded from these provisions. 

 

ALEX HAARTZ (Principal Program Analyst): 

I am beginning with Section 65, which begins on page 34. Section 65 is new 

language that clarifies the General Fund appropriations for the operation of the 

public option in the Nevada Health Authority are made directly to the Public 

Option budget account.  

 

Section 66 is carryover language, which expresses the intent of the Legislature 

that it is to continue the current service delivery model related to prescription 

drugs for the Medicaid and Nevada Check Up programs over the  

2025-2027 biennium. 

 

Section 67 on pages 34 and 35, is carryover language, which specifies that 

appropriations made to certain Nevada Health Authority and Division of Social 

Services budgets are limits, and that supplemental appropriations shall not be 

requested except under certain conditions including changes in federal 

reimbursement or program structure.  
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Section 68 is carryover language, which specifies that the appropriations made 

to the Washoe County and Clark County Child Welfare budgets, except support 

for adoption subsidy programs, are limits, and those budgets shall not request 

supplemental appropriations.  

 

Sections 69 and 70 are revised language, which establish a minimum wage for 

direct care workers of personal care service agencies equaling not less than  

$16 per hour of the $25 per hour rate received for Medicaid providers, as well 

as Aging and Disability Service Division providers, with the added clarification 

that the hourly wage must be paid as direct compensation and may not be 

decreased by health insurance or costs of other employee benefits.  

 

Section 71 is carryover language, requires NSHE to comply with any request by 

the Governor to set aside funds.  

 

Section 72 is revised language, which allows for a General Fund advance to 

DCNR in the event of delayed receipts related to forest fire suppression. The 

revision is the addition of the Out-of-State Fire Suppression account. Section 73 

is carryover language, which allows for a $50,000 General Fund advance to the 

Office of the Military in the event the National Guard is ordered to active duty.  

 

Section 74 is new language that specifies that amounts appropriated to the 

Office of the State Treasurer for the administration of the Nevada Employee 

Savings Trust Program are a loan and are to be repaid. Section 75 is also new 

language that specifies the amounts appropriated to the Nevada Office of Cyber 

Defense Coordination are a loan and are to be repaid.  

 

Section 76 is carryover language updated to include an appropriation of 

$208,659 over the 2025-2027 biennium to support the Legislature's retirement 

system. Section 77 makes an appropriation of $16.4 million to support the 

costs of the Eighty-third Legislative Session. Section 78 makes an $8.1 million 

appropriation to the Legislative Fund for information technology projects, 

equipment, and for dues and registration costs for national organizations.  

 

Section 79 is new language that directs the Legislative Auditor to conduct  

an audit of the Aging and Disability Services Division's Early Intervention 

Services Program and provide a report to the Legislative Commission by  

January 31, 2027.  
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Section 80 is new language, which extends the reversion date of $903,284 

appropriated to the DCNR Division of State Lands by the 2023 Appropriations 

Act for the replacement of the DCNR’s land management system, extending the 

reversion date to the end of FY 2025-2026.  

 

Section 81 is carryover language, which aside from the noted exceptions, 

specifies standard reversion dates for unspent appropriations. Section 82 is also 

carryover language, which requires the State Controller to process claims and 

specifies the last day to process claims in each fiscal year. Section 83 is also 

carryover language, which directs the State Controller to establish funding as 

directed by this act. Section 84 is carryover language, which directs the State 

Controller to pay salaries for certain elected officials in biweekly installments.  

 

Section 85 is carryover language, which has been revised slightly to specify 

permissible actions in this projection, if the projection of the ending General 

Fund balance is projected to be less than $175 million for either fiscal year. 

Section 86 is carryover language relating to payments made to the federal 

government under the Federal Cash Management Improvement Act of 1990.  

 

Section 87 is carryover language that specifies the director of the Nevada 

Health Authority shall reimburse fee-for-service providers of applied behavior 

analysis services that align with the approved Medicaid and Nevada Check Up 

budgets, notwithstanding statutory provisions that require rates to align with 

the median rates of comparable states.  

 

Section 88 is new language, which clarifies that if a budget account is provided 

nonreversion language by statute, then the statutory nonreversion language still 

applies to the budget account.  

 

Section 89 is carryover language, which provides for changes in the names of 

state officers or agencies. Section 90 allows the committee to vote on a bill 

before responses on fiscal notes are received. Section 91 provides the various 

effective dates for the sections in this BDR.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

I need a clarification on section 85. If projections of the ending balance of the 

General Fund fall below the amount, when would we anticipate that projection? 

Would that happen after the Economic Forum in December? What would that 

look like? 
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MR. THORLEY: 

This is not based off Economic Forum projections. This will be based off 

monitoring of the revenue coming in by both the GFO and the LCB Fiscal 

Analysis Division. If there is a determination made that the money coming in is 

less than projected, which then causes a projected ending fund balance to be 

less than the $175 million, that is when this would trigger.  

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

Is that a rolling monitoring or when taxes are paid or collected? Are there lines 

drawn where we have to look at this now? How does that happen?  

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Both the GFO and the Fiscal Analysis Division regularly monitor revenue coming 

in and expenditures going out. There is no set time frame for the monthly 

revenues, but we are monitoring those on a monthly, quarterly and annual basis. 

It is an ongoing thing that both our offices are performing and then collaborating 

with each other. 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We are not voting on this; we just heard this tonight. Let us put that aside and 

go to BDR S-1229. 

 

BILL DRAFT REQUEST S-1229: Revises provisions relating to the compensation 

of state employees. (Later introduced as Assembly Bill 592.) 

 

KIMBRA ELLSWORTH (Senior Program Analyst): 

Bill Draft Request S-1229 (Exhibit J) is commonly referred to as the Pay  

Bill. This provides for the compensation of state employees for the  

2025-2027 biennium. Section 1 sets forth the maximum annual salary amounts 

for employees in the unclassified service of the State. The unclassified positions 

are listed by agency, with the exception of certain medical personnel in 

subsection 44, which are unclassified positions available to multiple agencies.  

 

On page 34 is section 2, which is carryover language from last biennium. This 

allows the Department of Administration, Division of Human Resource 

Management to review the duties and responsibilities of a position that may 

have been omitted from the bill to establish the salary and allows for corrections 

of the bill of any errors determined by the Fiscal Analysis Division with the 

approval of the IFC. Subsections 3 through 6 include standard provisions 
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regarding persons filling or vacating unclassified positions and allows for the 

current salary of a filled position to be retained if it is higher than the salary set 

forth in section 1.  

 

Section 3 on page 36 is carryover language from last biennium. This is related 

to plans for on-call pay for the Department of Human Services and NDOC for 

physicians, pharmacists and psychiatrist positions. Section 4 on page 36 is 

carryover language from last biennium. This is related to plans for credential pay 

for the Gaming Control Board. Section 5 is also carryover language from last 

biennium related to aligning position or agency name changes enacted by this 

Legislature during this session through other bills with the names in the Pay Bill.  

 

Section 6 on page 37 is new language. This amends NRS 218A.605 relating to 

the compensation of employees in the Senate and the Assembly. On page 41 is 

section 7, which is also new language. This makes conforming changes to  

NRS 223.425 relating to positions in the GFO. Section 8 is new language, 

which adds language indicating the bill is exempt from the requirement to obtain 

fiscal notes before a committee may take action. Section 9 provides the 

effective date of the bill.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will not be voting on this. We are going to move into a work session and 

will start with S.B. 12.  

 

SENATE BILL 12: Revises provisions relating to the Office of the Chief 

Information Officer within the Office of the Governor. (BDR 19-280) 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 12 was heard by this committee on May 14, 2025. It revises 

provisions relating to the Office of the Chief Information Officer within the 

Office of the Governor. Essentially, the bill would rename the Office of the Chief 

Information Officer to the Governor's Technology Office. This is a budget 

implementation bill. There was funding approved in the Office of the Chief 

Information Officer budget to cover the costs associated with the rebranding to 

the name of the Governor's Technology Office. That is the only fiscal impact. 

And again, it is accounted for already in the budget. The bill was presented by 

Timothy Galluzzi, the State Chief Information Officer. Testimony and support 

were provided by the Vegas Chamber. There was no testimony in opposition or 
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neutral, and there were no amendments submitted. If the committee wishes to 

move this bill, the appropriate motion would be do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 12. 

 

SENATOR TITUS SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

The next bill for work session is S.B. 83.  

 

CATHY CROCKET (Chief Principal Deputy Fiscal Analyst): 

This bill requires the issuance by the State Board of Finance of not more than 

$10.5 million in general obligation bonds to carry out certain environmental 

improvement projects included in the second phase of the Environmental 

Improvement Program for the Lake Tahoe Basin. The bill becomes effective on 

July 1, 2025. As I mentioned, it does include $10.5 million in general obligation 

bonds that the committee just heard when considering the CIP BDR S-1233.  

 

It was presented by Charles Donahue, Administrator and State Land Registrar, 

DCNR, Division of State Lands. Comments and support were given by the TRPA 

and the League to Save Lake Tahoe. There was one comment in opposition. 

There were no comments in neutral and no amendments were presented. If the 

committee wishes to pass this bill, the appropriate motion would be to do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 83. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

We will move on to S.B. 108. 
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SENATE BILL 108: Revises provisions governing the Account for the Channel 

Clearance, Maintenance, Restoration, Surveying and Monumenting 

Program. (BDR 48-88) 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 108 was heard in this committee on May 14, 2025. It revises 

provisions governing the account for the Channel Clearance, Maintenance, 

Restoration, Surveying and Monumenting Program. The bill would increase the 

balance for triggering discretionary requests from the IFC Contingency Account 

from $250,000 to $500,000.  

 

The bill was presented by Senator Titus and Edwin James, the General Manager 

of the Carson Water Subconservancy District. Support was provided by the 

Vegas Chamber, the Dayton Valley Conservation District, Tyler Minor and the 

Carson Valley Conservation District. There is no testimony in opposition or 

neutral. There were no amendments discussed or presented at the bill hearing. If 

the committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion would be do 

pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 108. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKETT: 

The next bill up for work session is S.B. 165. It was heard in committee on  

May 15, 2025. Senate Bill 165 provides for the licensure and regulation of 

behavioral health and wellness practitioners; requires the establishment of a 

behavioral health and wellness practitioner advisory group; authorizes the Board 

of Psychological Examiners to investigate and impose discipline on a behavioral 

health and wellness practitioner; provides penalties and prohibits the unlicensed 

practice of behavioral health promotion and prevention; establishes a privilege 

for certain conditional communications between a patient and a behavioral 

health and wellness practitioner under certain circumstances; requires Medicaid 

to cover behavioral health promotion and prevention services provided by a 

behavioral health and wellness practitioner; and makes appropriations to NSHE 
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as follows: $1.1 million to the University of Nevada, Reno (UNR), $1.1 million 

to UNLV, $1.1 million to Great Basin College, $1.2 million to the UNLV 

Partnership for Research Assessment, Counseling, Therapy, and Innovative 

Clinical Solutions and $2 million to NSHE.  

 

SENATE BILL 165 (1st Reprint): Establishes provisions relating to behavioral 

health. (BDR 54-145) 

 

The bill was presented by Senator Nguyen, accompanied by Michelle G. Paul 

and Tara C. Raines. There was an amendment discussed at the hearing that was 

presented by Senator Nguyen to fund the nonfederal share of certain Medicaid 

services with provider tax and fund the General Fund appropriations in the bill, 

as previously noted, with opioid settlement funds.  

 

There were four individuals providing comment and support. There were no 

comments in opposition and no comments in neutral. If the committee wishes to 

approve this measure, the appropriate action would be to amend and do pass as 

amended. 

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 165. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 170 revises provisions relating to industrial insurance. It was heard in 

this committee on May 16, 2025, and presented by Senator John C. Steinbeck. 

The bill requires a fire fighter or volunteer fire fighter to submit to cancer 

screenings. In addition to physical examinations upon the commencement of 

industrial insurance coverage, annually while employed and if provided by the 

employer upon reemployment. 

 

SENATE BILL 170 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to industrial 

insurance. (BDR 53-632) 
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The bill also requires a physical examination to be administered, when possible, 

by a physician or an APRN who is knowledgeable about the physical demands 

of firefighting and law enforcement. The bill also revises and expands the 

requirements for administering such physical examinations and sets forth 

requirements for the administration of cancer screenings.  

 

There was an amendment provided by Senator Steinbeck during the committee 

hearing. It is a mockup amendment, Proposed Amendment 3048 to S.B. 170. 

This mockup amendment would exempt employees of the Executive Branch of 

state government from the provisions of the bill. There was testimony provided 

that with this proposed amendment, the fiscal impact on all state agencies that 

submitted fiscal notes would be reduced to zero.  

 

Testimony in support was provided by Comprehensive Cancer Centers of 

Nevada. There was no testimony in opposition and DCNR, Division of Forestry 

provided testimony in neutral. If the committee wishes to move the bill with the 

proposed mockup amendment presented by Senator Steinbeck exempting 

Executive Branch employees from the bill, the appropriate motion would be to 

amend and do pass the bill.  

 

CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Personally, I am a little bit concerned that we are deleting our Division of 

Forestry, who are out fighting wildfires and forest fires for us.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 170. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

I absolutely concur with your concern over this and hopefully, at some point, 

we can come back and make this better. In the meantime, just to let the 

employees know that can be part of a negotiating arbitration and hopefully, 

make sure they can address it with their providers, because I too have 

concerns.  

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 
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MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 175 was heard in committee on May 13, 2025. It authorizes a 

person who is a member or a veteran of the United States Armed Forces and 

holds a certificate as an instructor in the Junior Reserve Officers Training Corps 

(JROTC) program, as satisfying the alternative route to licensure program 

requirements in Nevada. It also specifies that the only endorsement a person 

receives when licensed pursuant to the provisions of the bill is an endorsement 

to teach pupils in the JROTC program. The bill requires a school district to 

consider certification as a JROTC instructor in an application for employment by 

a person who is a member of the U.S. Armed Forces or a veteran as credit 

towards any required training experience, certification or licensure. The NDE 

submitted a fiscal note indicating an impact of $25,000 for licensing system 

enhancements.  

 

SENATE BILL 175 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions governing the treatment of 

certain military credentials in the licensure and hiring of educational 

personnel. (BDR 34-663) 

 

The bill was presented by Senator Lori Rogich accompanied by a JROTC 

program director. There were four comments in support and no comments in 

opposition. There was one comment in neutral from the NDE regarding their 

fiscal note and indicating their costs would be removed via amendment. The 

amendment was presented by Senator Rogich, and it would eliminate the fiscal 

impact previously noted by NDE. [The amendment] would revise section 3 of 

the bill to clarify that instead of obtaining a license, there would be an issuance 

of an endorsement to teach pupils enrolled in the JROTC program.  

 

If the committee wishes to approve this bill as amended, the appropriate action 

would be to amend and do pass as amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 175. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 
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MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 240 revises provisions relating to the state business license. It was 

heard in this committee on May 13, 2025. The bill was presented by  

Senator Julie Pazina. The bill as amended, reduces the fee for the issuance of a 

state business license for certain businesses, which employ not more than  

50 full-time or part-time employees to $100.  

 

SENATE BILL 240 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to state business 

licenses. (BDR 7-126) 

 

There was a conceptual amendment presented during the bill hearing that would 

change the effective date of the bill from July 1, 2025, to July 1, 2027. If the 

amendment is approved, the fiscal impact would result in a loss of General Fund 

revenue of approximately $15 million over the biennium related to the reduced 

business license fee for initial business licenses for certain businesses. The 

revenue reduction would not hit until the 2027-2029 biennium.  

 

With the conceptual amendment the Office of the Secretary of State indicated 

that it would need $40,000 for system upgrades to support the fee change in 

FY 2026-2027, the second year of the upcoming biennium.  

 

There was testimony of support from the Henderson Chamber of Commerce, 

Janine Hansen, the Nevada Secretary of State, several private citizens, the 

Independent American Party and Americans for Prosperity Nevada. There was 

no testimony in opposition and no testimony in neutral.  

 

Regarding the estimated $40,000 fiscal impact from the Secretary of State's 

Office, the committee has a few options. The committee could add a General 

Fund appropriation to the bill as part of the conceptual amendment to fund that 

[the fiscal impact]; or the committee could consider the one-shot appropriation 

request from the Secretary of State's Office, which will be considered at a 

future date, for their business system Project Orion as part of that [the fiscal 

impact], or the Secretary of State's Office could be instructed to approach the 

IFC during the interim, if needed, to obtain the funding.  

 

If the committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion would be to 

amend and do pass as amended. If the committee wishes to add funding to the 

amendment that would just need to be stated.  
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SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 240. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 245 was heard in committee on May 15, 2025. The bill creates the 

Advisory Council on Civics Education within the NDE. The council must assist 

the Superintendent of Public Instruction with developing and implementing the 

State Seal of Civics Program and developing program criteria. The bill also 

requires the superintendent in consultation with the council to adopt necessary 

regulations to carry out the program. The superintendent may apply for grants 

and accept gifts to support the program. The bill also changes the academic 

requirements for a pupil to be eligible to receive the State Seal of Civics. The bill 

appropriates General Funds of $20,000 to the Nevada Center for Civic 

Engagement to raise awareness of the civics education program and creates 

awards in civic education. It requires reporting to the IFC on expenditures made.  

 

SENATE BILL 245: Makes various changes relating to education. (BDR 34-827) 

 

Regarding fiscal impact, there is an appropriation in the bill. The bill was 

presented by Senator Roberta Lange accompanied by a representative of the 

Center for Civic Engagement.  

 

There were five comments in support of the bill, no comments in opposition and 

one comment in neutral. Senator Lange presented a conceptual amendment, 

which would, in section 2, add additional members to the advisory council to 

include two members appointed by the Governor, one from business and  

one from industry, one member appointed by the chancellor of NSHE and the 

Secretary of State or his designee. In Section 5.1 the grade point average is 

changed from 2.5 to 3.5.  

 

If the committee wishes to approve the bill with the noted amendment, the 

appropriate action would be to amend and do pass as amended.  
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SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 245. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

Unfortunately, I will be a nay on this bill. I do appreciate the increase in GPA; 

however, I am very concerned about the council.  

 

THE MOTION CARRIED. (SENATORS BUCK, STONE AND TITUS VOTED 

NO.) 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 262 revises provisions relating to graduate medical education. It  

was heard in this committee on May 14, 2025, and was presented by  

Senator Pazina and Philip Clark with the UNR School of Medicine. The bill 

moves the Advisory Council on Graduate Medical Education and the 

administration of the account for the Graduate Medical Education Grant Program 

from the Office of the Governor, Office of Science, Innovation and Technology 

to DHHS.  

 

SENATE BILL 262 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to graduate medical 

education. (BDR 18-120) 

 

The bill expands the grants that may be made to include institutions with 

residency programs that train more residents than the number funded by 

Medicare. Section 8 of the Act appropriates General Fund monies of  

$4.5 million in each year of the upcoming biennium for a total of $9 million over 

the biennium. 

 

The effective date of the act is July 1, 2025. There were no proposed 

amendments presented during the bill hearing. There was a lot of testimony and 

support from UNLV, UNR, healthcare providers, hospital associations, hospitals, 

students and medical students. There was no opposition testimony or neutral 

testimony. If the committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion 

would be do pass.  
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SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 262. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 281 was heard in committee on May 15, 2025. It requires a transfer 

of $2.5 million in opiate settlement funds from the Fund for a Resilient Nevada 

to the DHHS Division of Child and Family Services. The division will then grant 

these funds to agencies who provide child welfare services. The funding would 

be used to support programs for young adults from the ages of 18 through 23 

who are transitioning from foster care to independent living.  

 

SENATE BILL 281 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to foster care. 

(BDR S-144) 

 

The bill was presented by Senator Nguyen who mentioned two amendments to 

the bill. The first amendment would be to add an appropriation of $15.1 million 

from the General Fund to the DHHS Division of Public and Behavioral Health for 

allocation to Clark County and Washoe County for jail-based behavioral health 

programs.  

 

Staff would note that we have been advised by the GFO that there is some 

proposed repurposing of American Rescue Plan Act of 2021 funding in the 

amount of approximately $3 million that will be presented at the June IFC for 

consideration. After reviewing the revised projections and work programs, the 

total General Fund appropriation would be $11,897,709 as opposed to the 

$15.1 million originally presented by Senator Nguyen. I believe that covers the 

amendments for the bill.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 281. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 
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THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 231 establishes provisions relating to the collection and destruction 

of unused drugs. It was heard in this committee on May 15, 2025, and 

presented by Senator Jeff Stone. The bill would establish a regulatory 

framework for the installation, maintenance and operation of secured drug take 

back bins for the collection and destruction of unused and unwanted 

home-generated pharmaceutical waste.  

 

SENATE BILL 231: Establishes provisions relating to the collection and 

destruction of unused drugs. (BDR 54-564) 

 

The bill defines conditions under which a collector monitors, inspects and 

maintains such bins and provides that a collector who complies with these 

provisions is not subject to certain disciplinary actions or local restrictions 

unless harm results from gross negligence or willful or wanton misconduct. 

Additionally, the bill prohibits collectors from receiving compensation from a 

customer to maintain a secure drug take back bin and clarifies no entity is 

obligated to maintain a secure drug take back bin.  

 

The fiscal impact of the bill is associated with an appropriation of $500,000 

from the Fund for a Resilient Nevada, which is the opioid settlement funds to 

assist collectors with costs related to the destruction of collected 

pharmaceutical waste.  

 

There were no amendments presented during the bill hearing. However, Fiscal 

staff recommends a technical amendment should the committee wish to move 

forward with this bill. It is probably appropriate to change the language in the 

section related to the appropriation to an allocation because there are not 

appropriations from the fund. If the committee wishes to move forward, the 

motion would be to amend and do pass as amended with that technical 

amendment.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 231 WITH THE TECHNICAL ADJUSTMENT AS STATED BY STAFF. 
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SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 316 was heard in committee on May 13, 2025. It expands the scope 

of certain provisions relating to pharmacy benefit managers, prohibits certain 

practices and adjusts the compensation and fiscal practices of pharmacy benefit 

managers.  

 

SENATE BILL 316 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to insurance. 

(BDR 57-777) 

 

There were various fiscal impacts discussed including an impact to B&I. The bill 

was presented by Senator Nguyen who also presented a mockup amendment, 

which is available on NELIS. It was discussed that, if the amendment was 

adopted, the various fiscal impacts would be eliminated. The Department of 

Business and Industry contacted fiscal staff and indicated that there would be 

no fiscal impact to them. 

 

There were four comments in support of the bill, six comments in opposition 

and several comments in neutral. If the committee wishes to approve the bill 

with the proposed amendment presented by Senator Nguyen, the appropriate 

motion would be to amend and do pass as amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 316. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 353 revises provisions relating to Medicaid and was presented to  

this committee on May 15, 2025, by Senator Marilyn Dondero Loop and  

Michelle Paul from UNLV. The bill requires the Division of Health Care Financing 
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and Policy to establish a specific billing category and all-inclusive per diem rates 

of reimbursements for clinics providing mental or behavioral health care to 

Medicaid participants.  

 

SENATE BILL 353 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to Medicaid. (BDR S-

1010) 

 

These clinics must be operated by an accredited university or pursuant to a 

faculty practice plan and provide education and training in mental or behavioral 

health professions. The bill mandates implementation by October 1, 2025, and 

includes provisions for services provided at clinics, mobile clinics, outside clinics 

and through telehealth.  

 

There is a conceptual amendment that was presented by Senator Dondero Loop, 

during the bill hearing. The amendment would authorize the transfer of 

approximately $117,000 in FY 2025-2026 and approximately $139,000 in  

FY 2026-2027 from the hospital provider tax revenues. It then authorized 

associated federal funding to cover the cost of implementation of this bill.  

 

There was testimony of support provided by the Nevada Psychiatric 

Association, NSHE and UNR. There was no testimony in opposition or neutral. If 

the committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion would be to 

amend and do pass as amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 353. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 373 was heard in committee on May 13, 2025. It requires the 

governing body of certain counties and incorporated cities to take actions 

relating to the establishment of a multijurisdictional business license.  
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SENATE BILL 373 (1st Reprint): Establishes requirements relating to 

multi-jurisdictional business licenses. (BDR 20-1073) 

 

Regarding the fiscal impact, the Office of Secretary of State indicated the fiscal 

impact could not be determined since it does not know what types of systems 

counties could possibly develop to integrate into their [Secretary of State] 

systems. However, staff would note that the Secretary of State does have a 

one-time appropriation that will be heard at a later date for $4.2 million. Any 

costs that might arise could potentially be absorbed within that $4.2 million.  

 

The bill was presented by Senator John C. Steinbeck. There were comments in 

support from five individuals, no comments in opposition, no comments in 

neutral, and no amendments were presented. If the committee wishes to 

approve this bill, the appropriate motion would be to do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 373. 

 

SENATOR TITUS SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 374 revises provisions relating to education, was heard in this 

committee on May 16. 2025, and was presented by Senator Angela D. Taylor. 

The bill, as amended out of the policy committee, requires school districts to 

ensure that 20 percent of staff receive training on student discipline and 

behavior. It also requires the development and maintenance of a system to help 

address disproportionate or high levels of pupil discipline. Additionally, it 

requires public schools to collect and report data on students placed in 

temporary alternative settings. The bill requires the NDE to report on the 

implementation and outcomes from the system across school districts.  

 

SENATE BILL 374 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to education. 

(BDR 34-752) 

 

There was one fiscal note submitted on this bill, however, the testimony 

provided at the bill hearing, and after further discussion with the bill sponsor, 
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the NDE indicates it no longer anticipates a fiscal impact associated with the 

bill. Support was provided by the Nevada Association of School Boards, the 

Nevada Association of School Superintendents and the Nevada State Education 

Association. There was no opposition or neutral testimony, and there were no 

amendments provided or discussed at the bill hearing. If the committee wishes 

to move this bill, the appropriate action would be do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 374. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 380 was heard in committee on May 14, 2025. It defines the term 

autism spectrum disorder, and requires continuing education for peace officers 

to include training and interactions with persons with developmental disabilities, 

including recognizing and responding to persons with an autism spectrum 

disorder. Such trainings must include at least four hours of in person instruction 

in specific topics relating to this disorder.  

 

SENATE BILL 380 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to autism spectrum 

disorders. (BDR 23-118) 

 

The bill also authorizes an applicant, who has applied to be a registered behavior 

technician, to engage in the practice of applied behavior analysis under the 

direct supervision of a licensed individual until the Applied Behavioral Analysis 

Board issues a determination for licensure.  

 

Various fiscal notes were submitted indicating a cost associated with providing 

the required trainings. The bill was presented by Senator James Ohrenschall. 

There were a number of comments in support, three comments in opposition 

and no comments in neutral.  

 

Senator Ohrenschall presented an amendment changing the mandatory training 

to optional training, which would address the various submitted fiscal notes. It 

does not appear that there would be a state agency fiscal impact. The 
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amendment also indicated a requirement to audit the Applied Behavior Analysis 

Board by the LCB auditor. Staff confirmed with the auditor [legislative auditor] 

that he did not believe there would be additional resources required to conduct 

that audit. If the committee wishes to approve the bill with the presented 

amendment, the motion would be to amend and do pass as amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 380. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 389 revises provisions relating to the administration of pharmacy 

benefits under Medicaid and certain other health plans. It was heard in this 

committee on May 13, 2025, and presented by Senator Melanie Scheible. The 

bill mandates DHHS to contract with a state pharmacy benefit manager to 

oversee pharmacy benefits for Medicaid and other health plans. It establishes 

payment methodologies and cost benchmarks for prescription drugs while 

prohibiting certain activities by the pharmacy benefit manager. Medicaid 

managed care organizations are required to use this state pharmacy benefit 

manager, with implementation required by January 1, 2030.  

 

SENATE BILL 389 (1st Reprint): Revises provisions relating to the administration 

of pharmacy benefits under Medicaid and certain other health plans. 

(BDR 38-240) 

 

There was a conceptual amendment provided during the bill hearing that would 

indicate that the Division of Health Care Financing and Policy shall implement 

this bill to the extent money is available and may request approval from the IFC 

to use existing funds from the Prescription Drug Rebate budget account if 

sufficient funds are available to finance the changes under this section. That 

amendment would address the fiscal impact submitted by the Division of Health 

Care Financing and Policy.  
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There was testimony in support provided by the Nevada Pharmacy Alliance, the 

Nevada Society for Dermatology and Dermatological Surgery and the Retail 

Association of Nevada. There is no opposition or neutral testimony. If the 

committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion would be to amend 

and do pass as amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 389. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 434 was heard in committee on May 13, 2025. It creates and funds 

the Statewide Health Care Access and Recruitment Program Account, provides 

for certain transfers of money and establishes a grant program toward grants of 

money to fund certain projects to address shortages of health care along with 

associated conditions and requirement. 

 

SENATE BILL 434 (1st Reprint): Creates a program to award grants to address 

shortages of providers of health care. (BDR 40-1107) 

 

The bill includes an appropriation of $50 million to fund the account and to 

carry out the provisions of the bill and allows for a 1 percent administrative 

allowance. Under certain circumstances, 0.5 percent of total state projected 

General Fund revenue shall be transferred to support the account unless the 

total balance of the account is greater than $60 million, in which case, no 

transfer would be made until the total balance is less than $30 million. If an 

amount is transferred to this [account], pursuant to this section, the 1 percent 

funding transferred to the account to stabilize the operation of state 

government, the Rainy Day Account, would be reduced to a 0.5 percent 

resulting in a potential net zero revenue impact.  

 

The bill was presented by Majority Leader Nicole J. Cannizzaro who presented 

an amendment to the bill. The amendment would be to remove the General 

Fund appropriations. Instead, the bill authorizes the director of the Nevada 
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Health Authority, assuming that bill passes, to request approval from the IFC to 

transfer no more than $25 million of any surplus prescription drug rebate from 

the Medicaid program to support the account previously mentioned.  

 

There were a number of comments in support of the bill, no comments in 

opposition and no comments in neutral. If the committee wishes to approve the 

bill as amended, the appropriate action would be to amend and do pass as 

amended.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO AMEND AND DO PASS AS AMENDED 

S.B. 434. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

SENATOR TITUS: 

I definitely appreciate the innovative ideas in this bill and the thoughts on how 

to fund it. I will be supporting it. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 452 extends the date of reversion of certain previous appropriations 

made to the Office of Finance in the Office of the Governor. It was heard in this 

committee on May 14, 2025, and presented by David Lenzner, Administrator, 

Budget Division, GFO, Jack Robb with the Governor's Office and Joy Grimmer, 

Administrator, Department of Administration. Essentially, the bill would extend 

the reversion date of a $55 million General Fund appropriation that was 

approved by this body two years ago.  

 

SENATE BILL 452: Extends the date of reversion of certain previous 

appropriations made to the Office of Finance in the Office of the 

Governor. (BDR S-1152) 

 

There was no testimony in support, opposition or neutral. There were no 

amendments discussed. If the committee wishes to move this bill, the 

appropriate action would be do pass.  
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SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 452. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 454 was heard in committee on May 14, 2025. It extends the 

temporary increase of the current 22 percent administrative cap on Highway 

Fund monies spent by the DMV on administrative costs to 27 percent, 

extending the expiration date to June 30, 2027.  

 

SENATE BILL 454: Revises provisions governing the State Highway Fund. 

(BDR 35-1128) 

 

There were no fiscal notes submitted on the bill. Testimony on the bill was 

provided by the DMV. There was no comment in support and one comment in 

opposition. No amendments were presented. The appropriate motion would be 

to do pass if the committee wishes to approve the bill. 

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 454. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 455 reorganizes certain divisions within the DMV. It was heard in 

this committee on May 14, 2025, and presented by Sean Sever, Deputy 

Administrator, Division of Research and Project Management, DMV. The bill 

renames the DMV, Division of Field Services to the Division of Customer 

Services, [renames] the Administrative Services Division to the Fiscal Operations 

Division and eliminates the Division of Central Services and Records within the 

DMV. This is all associated with a reorganization that was approved in closing 

the DMV's budgets by the money committees.  
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SENATE BILL 455: Reorganizes certain divisions within the Department of Motor 

Vehicles. (BDR 43-1161) 

 

There is no testimony in support, opposition or neutral. No amendments were 

discussed or provided during the bill hearing. If the committee wishes to move 

the bill, the motion would be do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 455. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 

 

MS. CROCKET: 

Senate Bill 456 was heard in committee on May 14, 2025. The bill would move 

the Office of Federal Assistance from the Office of the Governor to the GFO.  

 

SENATE BILL 456: Revises provisions relating to the Office of Federal 

Assistance in the Office of the Governor. (BDR 18-1148) 

 

There is no fiscal impact associated with the bill. This is a budget 

implementation bill that was proposed by the Governor. The bill was presented 

by the director of the GFO as well as the director of the Office of Federal 

Assistance. There were no comments in support, opposition or neutral, and no 

amendments were presented or discussed. If the committee wishes to approve 

the bill, the appropriate motion would be to do pass.  

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 456. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 
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MR. THORLEY: 

Senate Bill 462 revises provisions relating to state financial administration. It 

was heard in this committee on May 14, 2025, and presented by Curtis Palmer, 

Deputy Director, GFO, Tiffany Greenameyer, Director, GFO and David Lenzner, 

Administrator, Budget Division, GFO.  

 

SENATE BILL 462: Revises provisions relating to state financial administration. 

(BDR 31-1156) 

 

The bill would make provisions related to the adjusted base budget preparation 

and review process. It also revises provisions related to the calculation of the  

26 percent cap on the Rainy Day Account to put into statute the current 

practice. It also would transfer to the GFO the responsibility to annually prepare 

the statewide cost allocation plan. This is a budget implementation bill, but 

there is no fiscal impact associated with it. It just amends certain processes 

related to budget preparation and budget administration. There is no testimony 

in support, opposition or neutral, and no amendments were discussed. If the 

committee wishes to move this bill, the appropriate motion would be do pass. 

 

SENATOR NGUYEN MOVED TO DO PASS S.B. 462. 

 

SENATOR CANNIZZARO SECONDED THE MOTION. 

 

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. 

 

* * * * * 
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CHAIR DONDERO LOOP: 

Hearing no public comment, this meeting is adjourned at 8:22 p.m. 

 

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED: 

 

 

 

  

Dee Chekowitz-Dykes, 

Committee Secretary 
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Senator Marilyn Dondero Loop, Chair 

 

 

DATE:   



Senate Committee on Finance 

May 19, 2025 

Page 83 

 

EXHIBIT SUMMARY 

Bill  
Exhibit 

Letter 

Introduced 

on Minute 

Report 

Page No. 

Witness / Entity Description 

 A 1  Agenda 

 B 1  Attendance Roster 

S.B. 400 C 15 
Senator Dondero 

Loop 
Proposed Amendment 

S.B. 317 D 25 

Jason Mills / 

Nevada Justice 

Association  

Amendment Final Version  

5-16-25 

S.B. 317 E 27 

Victoria Carreon / 

Department of 

Business and 

Industry 

Division of Industrial Relations 

Opposition Testimony 

 F 34 

Legislative Counsel 

Bureau, Fiscal 

Analysis Division 

BDR S-1231 

 G 38 

Legislative Counsel 

Bureau, Fiscal 

Analysis Division 

BDR S-1232 

 H 47 

Legislative Counsel 

Bureau, Fiscal 

Analysis Division 

BDR S-1233 

 I 53 

Legislative Counsel 

Bureau, Fiscal 

Analysis Division 

BDR S-1228 

 J 60 

Legislative Counsel 

Bureau, Fiscal 

Analysis Division 

BDR S-1229 

 


